

# Consensus-based Care Recommendations for Children with Myotonic Dystrophy Type I

# Consensus-based Care Recommendations for Children with Myotonic Dystrophy Type I

### Overview

Recommendations for the health care of children with myotonic dystrophy are crucial to assure that all clinicians and professionals encountering children and their families with this complex disorder have a guidance document endorsed by experienced clinicians that encompasses pathways for health care delivery. While the studies and rigorous evidence needed to drive the creation of an evidence-based guideline for the clinical care of children with myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) are not currently available for all affected body systems and symptoms, this document functions as a first step. The recommendations were built via a consensus-based process informed by the literature and clinical experience.

Myotonic dystrophy is a multi-systemic disorder, and these care guidelines are therefore divided into two main sections: a. general care considerations and b. a system-based approach to care. Each section includes a brief background section outlining critical information, followed by a set of consensus-based recommendations.

The Board of Directors of the American Academy of Neurology formally affirmed the value of the Consensus-based Care Recommendations for Children with Myotonic DystrophyType 1 as an educational tool for neurologists.

# Table of Contents

Overview
General care considerations
Diagnosis and classification
Genetic counseling
Neonatal care
Palliative care counseling and management
Surgery and anesthesia10
Systems-based approach to management12
Respiratory management12
Cardiovascular management 14
Skeletal muscle weakness, orthopedic complications and rehabilitation
Skeletal muscle myotonia
Ocular and hearing management19
Gastrointestinal and genitourinary management
Neurodevelopmental management2
Psychosocial management23
Excessive daytime sleepiness
Endocrine and metabolic
General recommendations
Addendum 1: Project overview and list of authors
Addendum 2. Reading lists

# General care considerations

# **Diagnosis and classification**

# Background

Making a diagnosis of congenital or childhood onset myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) can be extremely difficult unless a clinician is familiar with the condition. The path to diagnosis is often complicated by the wide range of body systems involved, the number of different practitioners consulted, and the wide variability in severity of the signs and symptoms of disease. It can take years for a patient to receive a correct diagnosis of CDM and childhood-onset DM1.

The diagnosis of congenital and childhood-onset DM1 should be suspected in any juvenile with a family history of DM1 and/or presenting with one or more of the following features:

- Eyelid ptosis
- Distal weakness, primarily of the finger and wrist flexors, without contractures
- Myotonia or "stiffness" of muscles
- Autistic features or social communication difficulties
- Attention deficit disorder, anxiety and other behavioral problems
- Developmental delay and/or intellectual disability
- Learning disabilities (eg. dyslexia, dyscalculia)
- Excessive daytime sleepiness
- Gastrointestinal issues: constipation or diarrhea
- Scoliosis
- Arrhythmia
- Prolonged recovery or respiratory arrest following anesthesia
- Neonatal features of hypotonia, weakness, club foot, respiratory distress or feeding problems

If DM1 is suspected clinically, a definitive diagnosis can be made via a genetic test. A family history and a single symptom or sign consistent with DM1 should prompt genetic testing. In the absence of a known family history, a detailed family history from the parents often reveals a sub-clinical case of DM1 in a parent. In the case of no family history, a constellation of signs or symptoms, rather than just one, should prompt genetic testing. Arriving at a definite genetic diagnosis of DM1 in children and adolescents is very important in managing the presenting problem and to ensure proper monitoring and precautionary measures. In particular, cardiac monitoring by annual ECG should be done to identify potentially problematic arrhythmias.

The DM1 genetic test measures the number of CTG repeats in the 3" untranslated portion of the dystrophia myotonica protein kinase (DMPK) gene on chromosome 19. CTG repeat numbers between 37 and 50 are considered premutations and repeat expansions greater than 50 are associated with disease. (see **Genetic counseling**).

#### Recommendations

a. Refer to genetic counseling (see Genetic counseling) if patients or at-risk family members exhibit clinical signs indicative of DM1, to enable them to make an informed decision about whether to proceed to genetic testing. Such testing should be done through an accredited laboratory experienced in providing DM1 diagnoses (see myotonic.org). Individuals with 37 to 49 CTG repeats are deemed very unlikely to develop detectable DM1 symptoms. However, such "premutations" can expand into the disease range in subsequent generations. Individuals thus identified should be offered genetic counseling (see Genetic counseling) to discuss their risk for transmitting DM1

Once the diagnosis is confirmed, refer to an expert multi-disciplinary myotonic dystrophy team to coordinate care, prioritize symptom management and make appropriate additional referrals.

#### **Focus on CDM**

- Congenital DM1 (CDM) is defined in a child who has one or more of the following features:
  - a. Physical signs or symptoms attributable to DM1 at birth, or in the first month of life, including one or more of the following features: respiratory failure, feeding problems, weakness and hypotonia, clubfoot, polyhydramnios, and/or reduced fetal movement
  - b. Genetic confirmation of expanded CTG repeat size
  - c. Need for medical intervention or hospitalization in the first month of life for medical issues specific to myotonic dystrophy

Diagnosis may not necessarily be made in the neonatal period but could be made later in life if the above criteria a. through c. were demonstrably present.

• All other DM1 patients presenting in the pediatric age range (that do not meet the congenital criteria) are herein referred to as childhood-onset DM1. The diagnosis of childhood-onset DM1 can be made at any age if features of DM1 were demonstrably present during the childhood years but were not medically identified or diagnosed. There are other classification systems in the literature that further subdivide patients by age of symptom onset, such as the following: mild and severe congenital (age 0-1 years), childhood (1-10 years), and juvenile (10-18 years). However, at this time we do not have the evidence necessary to clearly prognosticate or change management based on these age ranges. Much of the current childhood-onset DM1 medical literature does not clearly define the classification system used

# General care considerations Genetic counseling

## Background

DM1 is caused by the expansion of an unstable CTG repeat sequence in an untranslated, but transcribed, portion of the 3' region of the dystrophia myotonica protein kinase (DMPK) gene located on chromosome 19q13.3. While DNA testing, including prenatal and presymptomatic testing for DM1 is now available there are many potential pitfalls in interpreting the results for the patient and family, making genetic counseling a useful part of the diagnostic process.

In many cases, a child with DM1 will be the first person in the family diagnosed with DM1, due to genetic anticipation. A diagnosis of DM1 in one person in a family has implications for other family members, raising questions about whether other family members who show no symptoms should be informed of the diagnosis and whether those family members should be tested. Diagnosis of DM1 in a presymptomatic person, especially if that person is a child, can have important implications for self-perception, health monitoring and future work and school functioning. DM is multisystemic disorder and many manifestations are not pathognomonic. Children especially have complex issues such as learning disabilities, physical fitness problems, etc. which are not uncommon among children without DM. However, the genetic diagnosis of DM may result in significant differences in the therapeutic approach, such as potentially preventable sudden deaths. As a result, there is significant debate about whether or not to test asymptomatic children. Certain countries have established legal precedent regarding this question, and it is therefore advisable to confer with a local genetic counselor before testing.

#### **Recommendations**

- Refer all patients with congenital and childhood myotonic dystrophy and their parents to a genetic counselor (see nsgc.org for referrals in the United States) and to assess the parents for the diagnosis of DM1
- 2. Review pedigree annually. Genetic counseling should be repeated when new information or circumstances change the risks for family members
- 3. Ensure that genetic counseling for affected families conveys information about:
  - a. The inheritance pattern of disease (autosomal dominant inheritance)
  - b. The wide variability in the scope and severity of DM1 symptoms, even within the same family
  - c. The possibility of changes in symptom scope and severity over time
  - d. The likelihood that the mutation will expand and the disease will become more severe as it is passed from generation to generation (anticipation) and as patients age
  - e. The possibility of a minimally-affected mother giving birth to a severely affected child-Options for family planning
- 4. Help mutation carriers inform their close relatives of the possibility that they may also have inherited the risks and repercussions of DM1, even if they or their children are currently asymptomatic

- 5. Do not use CTG repeat numbers, if available, for genetic advice or prognostication; these need to be discussed with a genetic counselor
- 6. Advise parents who have a child with myotonic dystrophy that they have a 50% risk of having another child with DM1, and clinical experience suggests that they are likely to have congenital or childhood-onset in future births as well
- 7. Suggest that parents consider in vitro fertilization with pre-implantation diagnosis to prevent DM1 transmission, or other alternatives for expanding their family
- 8. If the family and physician are considering testing an asymptomatic child, recommend that all parties take part in a counseling session before testing, and at the time of the disclosure of the result. The counseling should involve the child, parents, child's physician, a genetic counselor, and if necessary, a psychologist. This may be cumbersome and deter casual testing; at least consider this approach for critical cases

#### **Focus on CDM**

- Repeat size is often large (typically >1000 repeats) but as mentioned above (point 5) the repeat size
  cannot absolutely in isolation be used to determine whether a child will have CDM or how severe
  his/her symptoms will be
- Once a family has had a child with CDM, there is an increased risk that the next child with DM1 will have congenital form as well

# General care considerations Neonatal care

### Background

Women with DM1 can have a complicated pregnancy, labor, and delivery, including premature delivery or prolonged labor that can have impact on the newborn. In addition, the baby may be born with congenital-onset DM1, with severe neonatal complications, including respiratory and swallowing abnormalities. (see **Diagnosis and classification**, and **Genetic counseling**).

Prenatal and preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) may be options for parents seeking to avoid transmitting the genetic mutation to their children. Knowing if a pre-neonate has a risk of CDM also enables the parents and the obstetric team to prepare for the birth of a DM1-affected baby.

Babies with congenital-onset DM1 may have the following prenatal and neonatal signs of varying severity:

- Polyhydramnios due to in utero swallowing difficulties
- Reduced fetal movement
- Poor feeding at birth, possibly requiring enteral feeding
- Respiratory muscle abnormalities, possibly requiring mechanical ventilation at birth
- Poor muscle tone and lack of fetal movement, often referred to as hypotonia or floppy infant syndrome
- Club foot and other joint problems such as arthrogryposis (multiple joint contractures)
- Abnormal accumulation of fluid in the body
- Enlarged ventricles in the brain (ventriculomegaly or even hydrocephalus)

#### **Recommendations**

- 1. A high-risk obstetrician should provide prenatal obstetric care for mothers known or suspected to be carrying a child with DM1
- 2. A pediatric or neonatal specialist should be present at delivery if a mother is known to have DM1, or if the child is known or suspected to have DM1
- 3. Neonatal intensive care consultation is recommended for neonates known to have, or suspected to have, DM1

#### **Focus on CDM**

- Children with CDM will often need management in a NICU that can provide breathing and feeding support, and a range of neonatal and consulting specialists who can manage genetic, respiratory, GI, orthopedic, neuromuscular, neurosurgical, and cardiac issues
- Breathing support should be managed by endotracheal intubation or supplemented with noninvasive maneuvers as dictated by the severity of the respiratory failure. As most CDM infants will improve in their breathing function as they age, an adequate trial of ventilation should be given
- Weaning from ventilatory support can be much slower than would be the case for other disorders such as prematurity and pneumonia. Using a respiratory muscle aid protocol with manually and mechanically assisted coughing (to reverse airway mucus-associated decreases in oxyhemoglobin saturation) and non-invasive positive pressure ventilation if needed, with gradual weaning of support, is therefore recommended over a conventional weaning management strategy
- Feeding support should be managed by nasogastric tube initially, as many children with CDM will improve in feeding function over time. Placement of a gastrostomy-tube for longer term feeding is warranted for those who do not show improvement by one month of age, corrected for prematurity if needed
- Conduct monitoring for joint contractures and other orthopedic complications, and refer to orthopedics and/or physiotherapy
- Prevent skin pressure injuries by frequent repositioning and avoidance of pressure points in cribs or car seats for infants with reduced movement resulting from severe weakness
- Optimize social and cognitive development using age-appropriate developmental care and infant stimulation programs
- Monitor head circumference to identify hydrocephalus
- Refer parents to genetic counseling and family planning services for future child-bearing decisions and subsequent pregnancies
- Implement comprehensive discharge planning to ensure that all necessary services (e.g. infant development services) and equipment (e.g. proper car seats) are in place and follow up appointments are scheduled
- Refer to pediatric neuromuscular multidisciplinary clinic on discharge from the neonatal unit to manage the many issues that children with CDM will encounter

# General care considerations

# Palliative care counseling and management

# Background

Caregivers of neonates with CDM may be faced with major medical care decisions, including lifesustaining choices. Children with CDM can make a surprisingly strong recovery after a prolonged critical period in the neonatal stage, and that information should be conveyed to the family. It is important to offer families anticipatory guidance to review the natural history of CDM, what choices and options are available for medical management, as well as the complications that arise during a NICU admission. Options for maintaining nutrition via enteral tube feeding, assisting respiratory function via assisted ventilation, and treating progressive hydrocephalus should be discussed.

Have these discussions as early as possible to promote better awareness among caregivers and the medical team of the choices available and their effects on each person involved. Recognizing the potential for significant caregiver burden is an open discussion that will also help guide decision making.

### Recommendations

Physicians and other health professionals caring for CDM patients that require significant life sustaining therapies such as invasive ventilation should take the following steps toward providing palliative care and encouraging advance directives:

- 1. Recommend the introduction of palliative care at the time of diagnosis and at regular intervals thereafter. When a formal pediatric palliative care team is available, it should be consulted
- 2. Recognize and address caregiver burden, whether or not the caregiver has DM1, offering respite care or equivalent measures to improve family support. Address grieving patients and family members and offer counseling as appropriate
- 3. Establish an emergency health care plan and advance directives with the family

## **Focus on CDM**

- Introduce the concept that the natural history of CDM is one of childhood progressive muscle strength improvement, but that the complications of CDM can be critical and have a high risk of mortality, particularly in the first year of life
- Create a shared decision-making environment with families so that they develop their own prognostic awareness and can accept difficult decisions
- Advise families or caregivers that invasive and noninvasive ventilation, and nutrition via gastrostomy tube, are acceptable elements of care for patients with CDM

# General care considerations Surgery and anesthesia

## Background

DM1 patients, including children with DM1, are far more likely than the general population to have adverse reactions to medications used for anesthesia and analgesia. Children may undergo sedation for a wider range of medical issues than adults, and deep sedation for such procedures as dental examinations, MRIs and other diagnostics tests, eye examinations, etc. General pediatricians should therefore advise patients and their families that any sedation should be treated carefully and anyone administering anesthetic or sedation should be aware of the diagnosis of DM1, including subspecialists such as dentists, radiologists, etc.

Interactions of the cardiac, respiratory, muscle and central nervous systems in DM1 patients can lead to a variety of untoward responses before, during and after surgery. Serious adverse events have been reported even in patients whose overall DM1 symptoms were mild. A guide for peri-surgical management has been produced for adults by Myotonic Dystrophy Foundation (MDF). See MDF's *Practical Suggestions for the Anesthetic Management of a Myotonic Dystrophy Patient and Anesthesia Quick Reference Guide* at https://www.myotonic.org/toolkits-publications

Anesthetic risks of concern for children with DM1 include the following:

- Cardiac conduction defects and potentially fatal arrhythmias
- Ventilatory insufficiency and poor airway protection
- Gastrointestinal dysmotility that frequently results in pseudo-obstruction and can lead to aspiration
- Erratic responses to succinylcholine (although DM1 does not increase true malignant hyperthermia reactions, this drug should not be used in DM1 patients because of the risk of masseter spasm and hyperkalemia)
- Prolonged and heightened sensitivity to sedatives and analgesics, resulting in serious complications in the post-anesthesia period. After-anesthesia risk of aspiration and other complications is increased due to the following drug-induced effects:
  - a. Reduction in level of consciousness
  - b. Exaggerated ventilatory weakness
  - c. Pharyngeal dysfunction with reduced airway protection
  - d. Gastrointestinal dysmotility and potential pseudo-obstruction

### Recommendations

- 1. See MDF's Practical Suggestions for the Anesthetic Management of a Myotonic Dystrophy Patient and Anesthesia Quick Reference Guide at https://www.myotonic.org/toolkits-publications
- 2. Inform all caregivers that any clinicians administering or prescribing an anesthetic should be aware of the DM1 diagnosis and impact of sedation on DM1 patients
- 3. When possible combine procedures under a single sedation
- 4. Arrange for a pre-anesthetic visit for all children planning to have deep sedation for a diagnostic test, procedure or surgery. If possible, include a pulmonologist with expertise in neuromuscular diseases during this visit
- 5. Consider referral to a Child Life Specialist or a similar program that specializes in reducing the anxiety for children undergoing a surgical procedure
- 6. Monitor during anesthetization for untoward responses and interactions of the cardiac, respiratory, muscle and central nervous system before, during and after surgery
- 7. Monitor for a longer than typical period of time after sedation, even in mild DM1 cases, in order to detect any serious adverse events in the hospital setting
- 8. Provide patients with a DM1 wallet card or bracelets

### **Focus on CDM**

• Children with CDM are at a higher risk of anesthetic complications when compared to individuals with childhood or adult-onset, given the underlying respiratory involvement

# Systems-based approach to management Respiratory management

# Background

Most children with childhood-onset myotonic dystrophy have normal breathing function and few respiratory issues. However, the spectrum of severity is wide, and some children with DM1 may have significant breathing problems resulting from muscle weakness of the diaphragm, abdominal and intercostal muscles. The weakness and myotonia of these muscles may lead to poor ventilatory force and result in low blood oxygen and elevated blood carbon dioxide levels. Patients with CDM are typically very weak, and respiratory failure in the neonatal period is often a presenting feature and a significant cause of morbidity. See **Neonatal care** regarding issues of ventilation in the newborn.

Weakness of the inspiratory and expiratory muscles and the facial muscles often reduces cough effectiveness and impairs clearing of secretions, leading to an increased risk of pulmonary infections and to aspiration of material into the lungs. Weakness of the swallowing muscles can add to the risk of aspiration of food and drink, saliva, nasal secretions and stomach fluids.

Excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) and respiratory failure are common in DM1 and both significantly reduce quality of life. Their causes may overlap, but some sources believe that EDS in DM1 is mostly due to primary central nervous system involvement and that respiratory insufficiency or failure is mostly due to respiratory muscle weakness. That said, insufficient air flow during sleep may contribute to disrupted sleep and to excessive daytime fatigue. Restless leg syndrome is also very common in children with DM1 and should be considered during evaluation.

#### **Recommendations**

#### Look for:

a. Signs of respiratory problems in children with myotonic dystrophy, including ineffective cough, recurrent pulmonary infections, orthopnea, dyspnea, poor sleep, morning headaches, apnea, fatigue and snoring

#### Test for:

- a. Forced vital capacity (FVC) and forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1) in the sitting and supine positions, when the child is old enough to cooperate for an accurate study (typically around 5 years). Consider using a mask if lip seal is not ideal or the child lacks muscle control
- b. Sniff nasal inspiratory pressure (SNIP) test when an FVC is difficult to obtain
- c. Nocturnal oximetry if snoring, nightly interrupted sleep, morning headaches or excessive daytime sleepiness are present
- d. Peak expiratory flow during cough
- e. A polysomnogram (sleep study) if symptoms of snoring, nightly interrupted sleep, morning headaches or excessive daytime sleepiness are present
- f. Clearance capacity and other respiratory assessments prior to surgery; if needed, adaptation to nocturnal noninvasive ventilation or to cough-assist devices should also occur prior to surgery (see **Surgery and anesthesia**)

#### Treat with:

- a. Vaccinations for influenza and pneumococcus pneumonia. For infants RSV prophylaxis is also suggested
- b. Standard medical therapy as soon as possible for patients with respiratory infections, including respiratory cough assistance and mechanical ventilation as needed. Obtain consultations from respiratory therapy and pulmonary medicine groups
- c. Cough assistance techniques (e.g., air stacking, abdominal thrust and cough machine) for DM1 patients with ineffective cough and during chest infections and perioperative periods
- d. Noninvasive positive-pressure ventilation (NIV) for respiratory insufficiency in patients who have respiratory muscle weakness and sleep-related breathing disorders. Noninvasive positive-pressure ventilation should be launched according to the criteria defined in the respiratory consensus ENMC (European Neuromuscular Centre) Workshop (2014-07-21). In this case, NIV is specifically referring to a BiPAP machine, but a CPAP is an adequate alternative if necessary
- e. Supplemental oxygen with caution and only in conjunction with noninvasive ventilation (see **Surgery and anesthesia**)
- f. Emergency medical alert devices or wallet cards

#### **Focus on CDM**

- CDM children who remain on longer-term trach ventilation often improve in respiratory strength over time and consideration to decannulate a tracheostomy should be made after careful consideration with the multidisciplinary team including neurology, respirology, ENT and the family. Airway control, respiratory infection frequency, ability to tolerate a facial or nasal mask for NIV and compliance and cooperation with maintenance pulmonary therapy such as cough assist, breath stacking etc. should be considered. Testing for hypoventilation in sleep should be done prior to decannulation
- For children with CDM who remain on invasive or non-invasive ventilation, ongoing management by a pediatric respirologist and otolaryngologist is recommended

# Systems-based approach to management Cardiovascular management

### Background

DM1-related cardiac pathology manifests predominantly as arrhythmias due to progressive abnormalities in the conduction system of the heart. Clinical presentations may include: presyncope, syncope, palpitations, dyspnea and, rarely, chest pain or sudden death from cardiac arrest. Sudden cardiac death is one of the most common causes of death in adult DM1. Bradyarrhythmias (arrhythmias that cause a slowing of the heart rate) are not reported in literature under the age of ten years. Rarely, life-threatening tachyarrhythmias have been reported in patients as young as ten. Although exact numbers of sudden cardiac death in children with DM1 or CDM are not known, they are thought to be very low.

It is important to evaluate the severity of cardiac rhythm disturbance via a 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG), and long-term ambulatory ECG monitoring. Serial ECG studies are useful to follow progression of conduction system abnormalities over time, as they are often asymptomatic. Recommendations for preventative pacemaker implant may be based on serial changes. Although children are at a very small risk of sudden death due to tachyarrhythmia, there is not necessarily a consistent ECG abnormality or bradyarrhythmia that has been linked to cardiac events. ECG results may therefore be normal preceding sudden death by tachyarrhythmia. Sudden death in children has been described following surgical procedures and severe illness, and monitoring in hospital may therefore be appropriate in these situations.

#### **Recommendations**

#### General:

- a. Encourage use of emergency medical alert devices to identify DM1 diagnosis and risk of arrhythmia
- b. Inform families of the risks of arrhythmias and cardiac dysfunction and the importance of prompt medical attention if symptoms are observed (i.e. palpitations, pre-syncope, syncope, dyspnea, chest pain, unexplained fatigue)

#### Look for:

- a. Symptoms representing arrhythmias. Assess for sinus bradycardia, heart block, atrial fibrillation and flutter, orventricular tachycardia on ECG and systolic dysfunction on echocardiogram
- Symptom change, abnormal cardiac imaging, abnormal ECG in any DM1 patient. This should prompt referral to a cardiologist or electrophysiologist knowledgeable about cardiac manifestations in DM1
- c. DM patients with palpitations, dizziness, syncope, non-sinus rhythm, PR interval >240 ms, QRS duration >120 ms, or second- or third-degree atrioventricular block in order to be evaluated at least annually and also considered for invasive electrophysiology study for possible pacemaker or ICD placement

#### Test for:

- a. Cardiac involvement; a 12-lead ECG should be performed at DM1 diagnosis. If normal and the patient remains asymptomatic, ECG should be performed annually. Investigate further if the patient is symptomatic
- b. Transient arrhythmia via 24-48 hour ambulatory holter ECG monitoring. Longer monitoring if the 12-lead ECG is abnormal or if the patient has symptoms which are suggestive of an arrhythmia
- c. Cardiology evaluation with examination, ECG, echocardiogram, and ambulatory electrocardiographic monitoring should occur at the time of DM diagnosis, regardless of symptoms
- d. For DM patients with normal LV ejection fraction and no evidence of the symptoms described prior, it is reasonable to reassess by examination, ECG, and ambulatory electrocardiographic monitoring annually and by echocardiogram every 2 to 4 years
- e. For young DM1 patients, serial exercise stress testing and signal-averaged ECGs may be considered

An ECG should always be performed prior to commencing any medication that can cause or exacerbate cardiac conduction disorders (i.e. antiarrhythmic agents or medications for treatment of ADHD). ECGs should be performed subsequently every six months after an initiation of therapy. Clinical judgment may warrant holter monitoring or cardiology referral in this setting.

#### Treat with:

a. Serial periodic clinical cardiology evaluation; specialist cardiology consultations are essential in patients with abnormal electrocardiograms or cardiac symptoms

#### Refer to:

- a. In-hospital cardiac monitoring to detect arrhythmias if admitted for longer duration than typical following surgical procedures
- b. In-hospital cardiac monitoring if admitted due to severe illness or infection
- c. American Heart Association (AHA) Management of Cardiac Involvement Associated With Neuromuscular Diseases: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association 2017 and ACC (American College of Cardiology)/AHA (American Heart Association))/ESC (European Society of Cardiology) Guidelines for Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death section on pediatric issues 13.4.

# Systems-based approach to management

# Skeletal muscle weakness, orthopedic complications, and rehabilitation

### Background

Skeletal muscle weakness is not usually a major feature of childhood-onset DM1 but can be functionally limiting in those with CDM. Children with CDM have delayed gross motor skills, but almost all obtain independent ambulation. Children with CDM have improving motor function during the first few years of life, even those with profound hypotonia at birth. They benefit from promotion of motor function through therapy and other activities.

Weakness and atrophy of the jaw and facial muscles has the greatest functional impact and results in a number of manifestations:

- Reduced facial expression
- Weakness of the facial, tongue and palatal muscles, leading to dysarthria, dysphagia, and jaw tightness
- Weakness of the eyelid muscles, leading to drooping of the eyelids (eyelid ptosis)

Orthopedic complications may occur in children with CDM. The most common complication is talipes equinovarus, though children may develop knee or hip contractures and scoliosis.

#### **Recommendations**

#### Look for:

- a. Physical, occupational, and speech therapy needs early and often with specific attention to:
  - i. Feeding concerns and dysphagia
  - ii. Gross motor delay
  - iii. Gross and fine motor weakness
  - iv. Dysarthria and potential augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) needs
  - v. Language acquisition delays
- b. Scoliosis; if necessary, consider bracing or referral to orthopedic surgeon
- c. Crowded teeth that benefit from orthodontic treatment. The goal of such treatment is to facilitate oral hygiene. Caregivers should be counseled to proactively maintain oral hygiene

#### Treat with:

- a. Surgical correction of talipes equinovarus or other contractures early in evaluation if these changes prevent appropriate biomechanical alignment for mobility, cause pain, or limit functional mobility
- b. Speech therapy targeting speech, language, and communication from a very early age
- c. Augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) therapy individualized for their linguistic and cognitive abilities if appropriate or necessary

#### **Focus on CDM**

- Newborns with CDM often have difficulty feeding and alternative nutrition should be considered. After about a year of actively working with a speech therapist or OT, most children can generally start on PO feeding
- Children with CDM experience progressive improvement in their proximal strength until adolescence, at a minimum. Children should therefore be encouraged to participate in physical activity
- Assessment of joint arthokinematics and range of motion should be observed to manage development of joint contracture
- Prevention of joint contractures is key to management and should be closely monitored with early initiation of stretching. Treatment of talipes equinovarus and other joint contractures should include initial stretching regiment and appropriate ankle bracing (for talipes equinovarus). Serial casting may be considered

# Systems-based approach to management Skeletal muscle myotonia

## Background

Myotonia – sustained muscle contraction and difficulty relaxing muscles – is a hallmark of DM1 and is an aspect of the disease that distinguishes it from other forms of muscular dystrophy. It affects many patients with adult-onset DM1 but is uncommon in young individuals with DM1. In some late childhood or adolescent patients, myotonia can become problematic. Myotonia can contribute to muscle stiffness, pain, prolonged hand grip, speech and swallowing difficulties, and GI issues.

Myotonia in DM1 is most prominent in the forearm and finger muscles, where it causes locking of the grip ("grip lock"). It sometimes affects tongue and jaw muscles, leading to difficulty with speech and chewing. Difficulty swallowing can be caused by myotonia of the face, tongue, jaw, pharyngeal and esophageal muscles, and myotonia of the respiratory muscles can lead to poor breathing force and low blood oxygen levels.

Grip myotonia can be observed by having a DM1 patient tightly grip the clinician's fingers, and then asking the patient to relax his hand after a sustained grip; the hand muscles will typically take 20 seconds or more to fully relax. Percussion myotonia can be demonstrated by a sustained contraction after the patient's muscle is tapped with a reflex hammer. Electrical myotonia can also be demonstrated by abnormal, spontaneous muscle fiber discharges seen on a needle electromyogram (EMG).

DM1-associated myotonia is commonly worse in cold weather and is more pronounced after rest. Its improvement with muscle activity is known as the "warm-up" phenomenon.

Drugs affecting ion channels, such as mexiletine (Mexitil), can improve myotonia, although their potential for causing cardiac arrhythmias must be weighed against their possible benefits.

#### **Recommendations**

#### Look for:

a. Delayed relaxation after grip or percussion, difficulty related to activities of daily life, progressive speech impairment, or profound irritable bowel symptoms

#### Treat with:

a. Mexiletine (Mexitil) if myotonia is demonstrated and is distressing to the patient. As mexiletine is an antiarrhythmic, conduct an electrocardiogram (ECG) prior to use, again within three months of starting therapy, and then at serial intervals. Instruct the patient to avoid dyspepsia and transient 'dizzy feelings' associated with mexiletine treatment by taking it with food to extend absorption and lower peak level in blood

# Systems-based approach to management Ocular and hearing management

# Background

Major and clinically relevant eye manifestations in congenital and childhood-onset DM1 can include hyperopia, eyelid ptosis, incomplete eyelid closure, strabismus, and other eye movement abnormalities. Cataracts, while a common concern in adults, are almost never seen in children.

Bilateral eyelid ptosis is a frequent feature of DM1. In severe cases, it can obstruct vision and may require surgical or nonsurgical intervention. Weakness of eyelid closure muscles is also a common problem and can cause corneal damage.

Otic infections during infancy manifested as an infection of the upper respiratory tract are frequent, and patients typically require surgical interventions, such as uni or bilateral tympanostomy.

As described in the literature, adult patients can have "early presbycusis", high frequency hearing loss and vestibular dysfunction as a manifestation of cochlear/vestibular dysfunction, however none of these have been shown in childhood-onset DM1 or CDM.

#### Recommendations

#### Look for:

- a. LETTERS Baseline audiometry, especially at school age
- b. Signs of upper respiratory tract infections, especially when manifesting as an otitis media, and give proper treatment as needed. Advise parents to be aware of and look for symptoms

#### Test for:

- a. Signs of strabismus or other ocular misalignment using a cover/uncover test. Persistent dysconjugate gaze in childhood can result in amblyopia
- b. Eyelid ptosis; if ptosis becomes severe and interferes with vision, intervention such as eyelid "crutches" that can be inserted into glasses may be warranted. Try crutches as a remedy for ptosis before eyelid surgery is considered, due to anesthesia risks

#### Refer to:

- a. An optometrist for examination at diagnosis and thereafter at least annually to identify hyperopia, astigmatism, strabismus
- b. An ENT If the patient presents with frequent ear infections
- c. An ophthalmologist for regular follow-up if eye movement abnormalities or weakness of eyelid closure are putting vision at risk. Ophthalmic lubricants for dry eye can be considered

# Systems-based approach to management Gastrointestinal and genitourinary management

### Background

Because both the smooth and skeletal muscles are involved in DM1, dysfunction along the entire gastrointestinal (GI) tract is common in this disorder. Children with CDM may have profound oral facial weakness that prevents oral intake and requires a gastrostomy tube. This will improve with age, though not completely. Other gastrointestinal symptoms include aspiration, abdominal pain and bloating. Intractable constipation and diarrhea may occur, as well as fecal incontinence. These may result in fecal impaction and megacolon. While children with childhood-onset DM1 do not have neonatal feeding problems, they may have any of the other symptoms.

Children may have urinary incontinence and difficulty toilet training. This may resolve, or partially resolve, with age.

#### **Recommendations**

#### Treat with:

- a. Fiber supplementation (more than 8 grams daily) for children with constipation or diarrhea
- b. Gentle laxatives for constipation:
  - i. First-line therapy recommendations: polyethylene glycol (Miralax), senna (Ex-Lax, Senokot), docusate (Colace) or lactulose (Cholac)
  - ii. Second-line therapy recommendations: bisacodyl (Dulcolax, Correctol), lubiprostone (Amitiza) or linaclotide (Linzess)
  - iii. Metoclopramide (Reglan) to reduce the symptoms of gastroparesis, pseudo-obstruction and gastric reflux. Long-term use is not recommended because this drug can cause tardive dyskinesia
  - iv. Antibiotics to reduce diarrhea if bacterial overgrowth is found on breath testing
  - v. Referral to a gastrointestinal specialist for anal manometry should be considered if a patient does not respond to the first- or second-line recommendations above
  - vi. Oils should be avoided
- c. Mexiletine may be considered for refractory diarrhea or constipation (see **Cardiovascular management** for mexiletine advisory)

#### Focus on CDM

- As mentioned in **Neonatal care**, children with CDM may require a temporary feeding tube. If dysphagia persists, consider enteral nutrition. Refer to speech therapy. Children should be periodically re-assessed for improving dysphagia
- Children with CDM often benefit from dysphagia therapy. With aggressive dysphagia therapy, children with CDM often are able to PO feed within the first year of life

# Systems-based approach to management Neurodevelopmental management

## Background

Cognitive impairment can be a major problem in children and adolescents with DM1, while muscle symptoms may be relatively discrete or absent within the childhood-onset form. Moderate to severe intellectual disability (ID), severe problems regarding adaptive skills and profound dysarthria are frequently associated with CDM. In the childhood-onset phenotype, ID ranges from moderate to subnormal IQ with higher verbal comprehension abilities, but reduced perceptive organization skills and slowed speed of processing. Deficits in visual attention, visual constructive abilities, as well as working memory, planning and cognitive flexibility have also been reported.

The principal behavioral manifestations found in patients with CDM are the Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD). Most patients present with communication issues. Patients are often described as kind, calm, passive, with a low pace, but easily fatigued and sometimes with social anxiety.

Childhood-onset DM1 patients are commonly described with attention deficit disorders without hyperactivity, anxiety and alexithymia. ASD can be present but with less involvement than in CDM. Parents commonly describe symptoms of fatigue and excessive daytime sleepiness, which may be principal causes affecting the quality of life in childhood-onset DM1 patients.

Family members and caregivers of CDM and childhood-onset DM1 patients, as well as patients themselves, should be made aware that DM1 is also a "brain disorder" and that cognition and behavior are often affected. Cognitive and personality aspects of CDM and childhood-onset DM1 overlap considerably with deficits in psychosocial functioning (see **Psychosocial considerations**).

It is important to accurately assess and follow up on cognition, emotional and adaptive skills in children with CDM and childhood-onset DM1, due to the large impact these deficits can have on the daily lives of patients and their families.

### Recommendations

#### Test for:

- a. Cognitive strengths and weaknesses in patients with CDM and childhood-onset DM1 via neuropsychological tests:
  - i. Psychometric assessment of global intellectual ability and adaptive functioning
  - ii. Assessment of executive functions
  - iii. Assessment of social cognition
  - iv. Assessment of visuomotor integration and visuospatial ability
  - v. Assessment of receptive and expressive language ability
  - vi. Assessment of excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS)
  - vii. Assessment of learning disabilities (specific tests for dyscalculia, dyslexia and dyspraxia)

- viii. The assessments should be performed at diagnosis, in preschool if applicable, and should be repeated, depending on the level of functioning, 2-3 times before adulthood
- ix. Psychiatric or behavioral issues; refer patients to a mental health care professional for assessment of Autism Spectrum Disorders, attention deficit disorders with or without hyperactivity and other behavioral problems

Communication between the health care professional and the school should be encouraged to develop educational strategies and individualized educational programs.

#### Treat with:

- a. Psychostimulants if attention deficits are associated with an impairing level of fatigue or excessive daytime sleepiness (see **Excessive daytime sleepiness**)
- b. Serotonin-enhancing antidepressants if excessive anxiety or other treatable psychiatric symptoms are present
- c. Specific cognitive remediation programs to enhance social abilities (visual contact, joint attention, emotional regulation) or executive functions efficiency (impulsivity, attention, working memory, and mental flexibility) using dedicated software (e.g., Cogmed®)
- d. Language remediation and reading therapy in the presence of cognitive deficits, even in children with normal intelligence. These deficits, including attention deficit, fatigability, and visual-spatial construction disability, can result in reading and spelling difficulties as well as mathematical impairment

# Systems-based approach to management Psychosocial management

## Background

Children diagnosed with myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) can present with a range of complex physical, cognitive, behavioral and personality features that can have a substantial impact upon development and quality of life status in childhood and during transition to adulthood.

DM1 can seriously hinder a child's developmental stages at home, school and within community settings. Important relationships with peers, family members and others around the child can be at risk of significant breakdown. A child with DM1 may become increasingly stressed, isolated and vulnerable as s/he attempts to progress through early years and beyond.

Children living with DM1 are likely to be part of a family affected by the same diagnosis. Children with an affected DM parent may not receive optimal emotional or intellectual support and guidance, and may lack routine care and nurturing, all of which can destabilizing.

Children with DM1 may struggle to meet milestones in physical and psychological development. Poor social and communication skills may be a cause for concern, along with below-average educational attainment. Due to facial weakness, children can experience speech difficulties ranging from mild to profound and some children's speech may not be understood at all. Communication restrictions can affect social relationships and education.

Educational institutions are likely to have limited knowledge of the condition and will consequently lack the competencies needed to deal with patients' issues. Educators play a pivotal role in a child's life, but they may fail children with DM1 due to a distinct lack of resources and information, and children with DM1 can fail to thrive in education systems.

Children with DM1 may have reduced physical capabilities including poor stamina, low energy levels and high levels of fatigue. These symptoms may be interpreted as general laziness or lack of motivation in activity performance. Children with DM1 may demonstrate physical distress via inappropriate behaviors, social withdrawal and/or poor social skills.

Children with DM1 can have problems with skills attainment in a number of activities of daily living, including continence management (toileting and hygiene skills), dressing/undressing and other important personal care domains. If not addressed, these skill delays can exacerbate with age and lead to untoward events with peers, family and staff.

## Recommendations

#### General:

a. Healthcare professionals have a responsibility to coordinate specialist care and support services for children with DM1, monitoring the psychological and social dysfunctions and monitoring the home and educational environment. Coordination between health and social service agencies is essential to ensure a consistent approach to care

#### Refer to:

- a. Speech and language therapy from an early age to manage swallowing issues, deficits in expressive and receptive language, and communication problems
- b. Appropriate psychological and therapy services at an early age to ensure that children with DM1 achieve their maximum potential and learn coping strategies for later life. Social engagement strategies can assist children with DM1 to develop confidence and self-esteem
- c. Family care and support services throughout childhood with social care assistance where required. Schools should be provided with specialist information about the care and management of a child with DM1. A social work consult or a referral to nursing case management can also be beneficial for patients
- d. Agencies that provide access to disability benefits, adequate housing, and adaptive devices and strategies as the disease progresses
- e. Special support groups nationally and locally to foster social engagement for children and families, and to provide guidance, advice and community engagement

# Systems-based approach to management Excessive daytime sleepiness

## Background

Excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) and fatigue can significantly impact the quality of life in children with DM1. These symptoms typically develop after age 10 and become progressively worse over time. Children may have difficulty paying attention in school and the need for afternoon naps may restrict their ability to participate in extracurricular activities.

### Recommendations

#### General:

a. Educate family members and teachers about signs and impacts of EDS, including prolonged naps or falling asleep in school

#### Test for:

a. Sleep apnea via overnight oximetry or polysomnogram

#### Treat with:

- a. Positive-pressure ventilation if a DM1 patient's sleepiness is thought to be related to nocturnal or daytime hypoventilation or sleep apnea. Patients should be referred to pulmonologists who have experience in neuromuscular diseases for consideration of assisted ventilation
- b. Stimulant therapy with a psychostimulant such as modafinil (Provigil), methylphenidate, or other if central hypersomnia is suspected (often difficulty staying awake in school is an indicator). Special care should be taken in children with previously-detected cardiac arrhythmias. (See **Cardiovascular management** re: stimulant management)
- c. Restless leg syndrome, if present, with pramipexole, gabapentin, or other common medications, though benzodiazepines should be avoided because of their sedating effect

# Systems-based approach to management Endocrine and metabolic

### Background

Endocrinological manifestations (estradiol insufficiency and insulin resistance) of the disease are well described in adults with DM1, but have rarely been rarely reported in children.

Cryptorchidism presenting in neonatal hypotonia is frequently reported during the first years of life of male CDM patients, and may be the prenatal manifestation of a low serum testosterone.

Reports describing the presence of thyroid dysfunction in childhood exist, but not as a common comorbidity in CDM or childhood-onset DM1 patients. CDM and childhood-onset patients may develop insulin resistance, hypothyroidism, hyperparathyroidism, hypogonadotropic hypogonadism and other adult-onset endocrine and metabolic symptoms as they age.

### Recommendations

#### Look for:

- a. Gonadal insufficiency and complications of the reproductive system via a detailed physical exam
- b. Amenorrhea or dysmenorrhea in female patients; and erectile dysfunction in male patients

#### Test for:

- a. HbA1c and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and FreeT4 level at baseline and every 3 years, or if there is a clinical suspicion or symptom development
- b. Fasting blood lipids, plasma glucose, liver enzymes, bilirubin levels, and Gamma Glutamyl Transpeptidase (GGT) at baseline

# Systems-based approach to management General recommendations

#### Patient and disease registry referral

General neuromuscular and DM1-specific registries serve a number of purposes that can be helpful to the patient and the wider community. Although individual registries have discrete purposes, the following may be achieved by a well-implemented registry:

- Education and communication across a community or region
- Information dispersal about research studies for which patients may be eligible
- Facilitation of research projects and planning for clinical trials
- Capturing clinically-important natural history data about the disease
- Improvement of clinical care

When referring to a registry, consider the following:

- Patient privacy protections, mechanisms and policies
- Registry ownership, governance and oversight
- Registry objectives

For a list of DM1 registries refer to MDF (www.myotonic.org) or TREAT-NMD (http://www.treat-nmd. eu/resources/patient-registries/list) or the regional DM1 patient advocacy group.

#### Alert cards and bracelets

Because DM1 is multisystemic and carries the risk of sudden cardiac death, all patients should use a medical alert bracelet or card. These are generally available through local patient advocacy organizations and online.

# Addendum I: Project overview and list of authors

The Consensus-based Care Recommendations for Children with Myotonic DystrophyType 1 was created by a group of 11 international clinicians with knowledge or experience in the care and treatment of children living with myotonic dystrophy type 1. They included:

Eugenio Zapata Aldana, M.D. University of Western Ontario

Nathalie Angeard, Ph.D. Inserm & University of Paris Descartes

Tetsuo Ashizawa, M.D. Houston Methodist Neurological Institute

Kiera Berggren, MA/CCC-SLP, MS Virginia Commonwealth University

Craig Campbell, M.D. University of Western Ontario

Tina Duong, MPT, Ph.D. Stanford University

Anne-Berit Ekström, M.D., Ph.D. Queen Silvia Children's Hospital

Nicholas Johnson, M.D., MCSI Virginia Commonwealth University

Chiara Marini-Bettolo, M.D., Ph.D. Newcastle University

Valeria Sansone, M.D. NEMO Clinic

Cuixia Tian, M.D. Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center

Myotonic Dystrophy Foundation designed and initiated the consensus-based process and provided project management and document preparation services. MDF team members included Paul Formaker, Leah Hellerstein and Molly White.

# Addendum 2: Reading list

#### **Diagnosis and classification**

- 1. Harper, P.S. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in Britain. I. Clinical Aspects. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1975; 50(7): 505-513.
- 2. Aicardi, J., Conti, D., Goutiéres, F. Clinical and genetic aspects of the early form of Steinert's dystrophia myotonica. J Genet Hum. 1975; 23 SUPPL: 146-157.
- Armendariz-Cuevas, Y., Lopez-Pison, J., Calvo-Martin, M.T., Moises, V.R., Pena-Segura, J.L. et al. Myotonic dystrophy. 18 years experience in a neuropaediatric clinic. Anales de Pediatria. 2010; 72(2): 133-138.
- 4. Ashizawa, T. & Sarkar, P.S. Myotonic dystrophy types 1 and 2. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. 2011; 101: 193-237.
- 5. Hageman, A.T., Gabreels, F.J., Liem, K.D., Renkawek, K., Boon, J.M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: a report on thirteen cases and review of literature. J Neuro Sci. 1993; 115(1): 95-101.
- 6. Bouchard, J.P. Phenotype variability in Steinert's myotonic dystrophy. Le journal canadien des sciences neurologiques. 1989; 16(1): 93-98.
- 7. Brisson, D., Tremblay, M., Prevost, C., Laberge, B., Puymirat, J. et al. Sibship stability of genotype and phenotype in myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 2002; 62(3): 220-225.
- 8. Bundey, S. Clinical evidence for heterogeneity in myotonic dystrophy. J of Med Genet. 1982; 19(5): 341-348.
- 9. Campbell, C. Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy. J Neurol Neurophysiol. 2012; S7.
- 10. Campbell, C., Levin, S., Siu, V.M., Venance, S., Jacob, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: Canadian population-based surveillance study. J Pediatr. 2013; 163(1): 120-125 e1-3.
- 11. Cunningham, A. & Procopis, P.G. Neonatal myotonic dystrophy. Australian Paediatric Journal. 1988; 24 Suppl 1: 74-76.
- 12. de Leon, M.B. & Cisneros, B. Myotonic dystrophy 1 in the nervous system: from the clinic to molecular mechanisms. Journal of Neuroscience Research. 2008; 86 (1): 18-26.
- 13. DiRocco, M., Gennarelli, M., Veneselli, E., Bado, M. Romanengo, M. et al. Diagnostic problems in congenital myotonic dystrophy. European Journal of Pediatrics. 1996; 155(11): 995.
- 14. Dodge, P.R., Gamstorp, I., Byers, R.K., Russell, P. Myotonic Dystrophy in infancy and childhood. Pediatrics. 1965; 35: 3-19.
- 15. Echenne, B. & Bassex, G. Congenital and infantile myotonic dystrophy. Handb Clin Neurol. 2013; 113: 1387-1393
- 16. Fujii, T., Yorifuji, T., Okuno, T., Toyokuni, S., Okada, S., Mikawa, H. Congenital myotonic dystrophy with progressive edema and hypoproteinemia. Brain & Development. 1991; 13(1): 58-60.

- Hageman, A.T., Gabreels, F.J., Liem, K.D., Renkawek, K., Boon J.M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: a report on thirteen cases and a review of literature. Journal of Neurological Sciences. 1993; 115(1): 95-101.
- 18. Harper, P.S. Myotonic dystrophy. (2001) 3rd ed. London, UK: WB Saunders.
- Harper, P.S. Myotonic dystrophy. (1997) In: Rimoin, D.L., Connor, J.M., Pyeritz, R.E. (Eds.), Emery and Rimoin's Principles and Practice of Medical Genetics. 3rd ed. (pp. 2425). New York, NY: Churchill Livingstone.
- 20. Harper, P.S. & Rudel, R. Myotonic Dystrophy. (1994) In: Myology Engel and Franzini-Armstrong. 2(43): 1192-1218). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- 21. Harper, P.S. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in Britain. I. Clinical Aspects. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1975; 50(7): 505-513
- 22. Hironaka, M., Yamamura, Y., Shinoyama, M., Kito, S. Contributing factors to the development of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Rinsho Shinkeigaku- Clinical Neurology. 1988; 28(3): 272-274.
- Hojo, K., Yamagata, H., Moji, H., Fujita, T. Miki, T., Fujimura, M., Kidoguchi, K. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: molecular diagnosis and clinical study. American Journal of Perinatology. 1995; 12(3): 195-200.
- 24. Ishigaki, K., Muto, A., Osawa, M. Clinical features and care of patients with congenital and childhood-onset myotonic dystrophy. Rinsho Shinkeigaku. 2012; 52(11): 1264-1266.
- 25. Kojo, T. & Arahata, K. Clinical and molecular genetic analyses of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine. 1997; 55(12): 3234-3238.
- 26. Machuca-Tzili, L., Brook, D., Hilton-Jones, D. Clinical and molecular aspects of the myotonic dystrophies; a review. Muscle & Nerve. 2005; 32(1): 1-8.
- 27. Machniven, J.A., Graham, N.L., Davies, R.R., Wilson B.A. A 5 year follow-up study of an atypical case of myotonic dystrophy. Brain Inj. 2005; 20(19): 1213-1221.
- Marchini, C., Lonigro, R., Verriello, L., Pellizzari, L., Bergonzi, P., Damante, G. Correlations between individual clinical manifestations and CTG repeat amplification in myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 2000; 57(1): 74-82.
- 29. Meola, G. Clinical aspects, molecular pathomechanisms and management of myotonic dystrophies. Acta Myologica. 2013; 32(3): 154-165.
- 30. Meola, G. Clinical and genetic heterogeneity in myotonic dystrophies. Muscle & Nerve. 2000; 23(12): 1789-1799.
- Muntoni, F, Valero de Bernabe, B., Bittner, R., Blake, D., van Bokhoven, H. et al. 114th ENMC International Workshop on Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2003; 13(7-8): 579-588. Naarden, The Netherlands
- Olivan Gonzalvo, G., Alonso Gregorio, M., Lopez Moreno, M.J., Dominguez Arranz, M.M., Olivares Lopez, J.L., Perez Gonzalez, J.M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy. Anales Espanoles de Pediatrica. 1990; 32(5): 460-463.
- 33. Ortega, M.C., Cayuela, A.D., Macias, V.P., Gonzalez, M.A. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in rural health area. Atencion Primaria. 2004; 33(1): 53-54.

- Passos-Bueno, M.R., Cerqueira, A., Vainzof, M., Marie, S.K., Zatz, M. et al. Myotonic dystrophy: genetic, clinical, and molecular analysis of patients from 41 Brazilian families. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1995; 32(1): 14-18
- 35. Richer, L.P., Shevell, M.I., Miller, S.P. Diagnostic profile of neonatal hypotonia: and 11-year study. Pediatric Neurology. 2001; 25(1): 32-37.
- 36. Roig, M., Balliu, P.R., Navarro, C., Brugera, R., Losada, M. Presentation, clinical course, and outcome of the congenital form of myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1994; 11(3): 208-213.
- Savić, D., Rakočević-Stojanović, V., Keckarević, D. et al. 250 CTG repeats in DMPK is a threshold for correlation of expansion size and age at onset of juvenile-adult DM1. Human Mutation. 2002; 19(2): 131-139.
- 38. Schara, U. Congenital and childhood-onset myotonic dystrophy: importance of long term data in natural history. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2016; 57(7): 652.
- 39. Spranger, M., Janssen, B., Rating, D., Spranger, S. Disease picture of myotonic muscular dystrophy in patients with large CTG triplet expansion. Der Nervenarzt. 1999; 70(2): 131-135.
- 40. Steinert, H. Uber da klinishe und anatomische bild des muskelschwundes der myotoniker. Deutsche Zeitschrift für Nervenheilkunde. 1909; 37: 28.
- 41. Joseph, J.T., Richards, C.S., Anthony, D.C., Upton, M., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Greenstein, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism. Neurology. 1997; 49(5): 1457-1460.
- 42. The International Myotonic Dystrophy Consortium. New nomenclature and DNA testing guidelines for myotonic dystoprhy type 1 (DM1). Neurology. 2000; 54: 1218-1221.
- 43. van Englen, B., Eymard, B., Wilcox, D. 123rd ENMC International Workshop: Management and therapy in Myotonic Dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2005; 15: 389-394. Naarden, The Netherlands.
- 44. Son, S.B., Chun, J.M., Kim, K.A., Ko, S.Y., Lee, Y.K., Shin, S.M. A case report on 30-week premature twin babies with congenital myotonic dystrophy conceived by in vitro fertilization. J Korean Med Sci. 2012; 27(10): 1269-1272.
- 45. Termote, J.U., Beemer, F.A., Wittebol-Post, D., de Vries, L.S. Congenital myotonic dystrophy- the significance of a handshake. Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde. 2006; 150(2): 65-70.
- 46. Thompson, A., Kaplan, C., Gardner-Medwin, D. Congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1995; 13(1): 85.
- 47. Wesstrom, G., Bensch, J., Schollin, J. Congenital myotonic dystrophy. Incidence, clinical aspects and early prognosis. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica. 1986; 75(5): 849-854.

#### **Genetic counseling**

- Arsenault, M.E., Prévost, C., Lescault, A., Laberge, C., Puymirat, J., Mathieu, J. Clinical characteristics of myotonic dystrophy type 1 patients with small CTG expansions. Neurology. 2006; 66(8): 1248-1250.
- 2. Ashizawa, T., Anvret, M., Baiget, M. et al. Characteristics of intergenerational contractions of the CTG repeat in myotonic dystrophy. American Journal of Human Genetics. 1994; 54(3): 414-423.

- 3. Ashizawa, T., Dubel, J.R., Harati, Y. Somatic instability of CTG repeat in myotonic dystrophy. Neurology. 1993; 43(12): 2674-2678.
- 4. Ashizawa, T., Dubel, J.R., Duanne, P.W., Duanne, C.J., Fu, Y.H. et al. Anticipation in myotonic dystrophy. II. Complex relationships between clinical findings and structure of the GCT repeat. Neurology. 1992; 42(10): 1877-1883.
- 5. Bachinski, L.L., Czernuszewicz, T., Ramagli, L.S. et al. Premutation allele pool in myotonic dystrophy type 2. Neurology. 2009; 72(6): 490-497.
- 6. Becker, P.E. Heterogenecity of congenital myotonia. De Nervenarzt. 1957; 28(10): 455-456.
- Geifman-Holtzman, O. & Fay, K. Prenatal Diagnosis of Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy and Counseling of the Pregnant Mother; case report and literature review. Am J Med Gete. 1998; 78(3): 135-137.
- 8. Bindl, L., Rummel, W., Walter, S., Haverkamp, F., Kowalewski, S., Lentze, M.J., Koch, M. Direct genotype analysis in congenital myotonic dystrophy with an unusual family anamnesis. Klinische Padiatrie. 1993; 205(5): 367-369.
- 9. Bodensteiner, J.B., Byler, D.L., Jaynes, M.E. The utility of the determination of CTG trinucleotide repeat length in hypotonic infants. Seminars in Pediatric Neurology. 1999; 6(3): 243-245.
- Boucher, C.A., King, S.K., Carey, N. et al. A novel homeodomain-encoding gene is assoiated with a large CpG island interrupted by the myotonic dystrophy unstable (CTG)n repeat. Human Molecular Genetics. 1995: 4(10): 1919-1925.
- 11. Brunner, H.G., Jansen, G., Nillesen, W. et al. Brief report: reverse mutation in myotonic dystrophy. New England Journal of Medicine. 1993; 328(77): 476-480.
- 12. Bundey, S. & Carter, C.O. Early recognition of heterozygotes for the gene for dystrophia myotonica. J Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry. 1970; 33: 279-293.
- 13. Carroll, J.M., Quaid, K.A., Stone, K., Jones R., Schubert, F., Griffith, C.B. Two is better than one: a case of homozygous myotonic dystrophy type 1. Am J Med Genet A. 2013; 161A(7): 1763-1767
- Cobo, A.M., Poza, J.J., Martorell, L., Lopez de Munain, A., Emparana, J.I., Baiget., M. Contribution of molecular analyses to the estimation of the risk of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1995; 32(2): 105-108.
- 15. Cobo, A., Martinez, J.M, Martorell, L., Baiget, M., Johnson, K. Molecular diagnosis of homozygous myotonic dystrophy in two asymptomatic sisters. Human Molecular Genetics. 1993; 2(6): 711-715.
- Cobo, A.M., Martorell, L., Lopez de Munain, A., Basauri, B., Martinez, J.M. et al. Direct genotypic analysis of myotonic dystrophy: detection of an unstable DNA fragment in carriers. Medicina Clinica. 1993; 100(10): 361-364.
- 17. Cobo, A.M., Martinez, J.M., Pradas, J., Baiget, M. Genetic analysis of Spanish families with myotonic dystrophy. Neurología. 1990; 5(3): 86-91.
- 18. de Leon, M.B. & Cisneros, B. Myotonic dystrophy 1 in the nervous system: from the clinic to molecular mechanisms. Journal of Neuroscience Research. 2008; 86 (1): 18-26.
- 19. Erikson, A., Forsberg, H., Drugge, U., Holmgren G. Outcome of pregnancy in women with myotonic dystrophy and analysis of CTG gene expansion. Acta Paediatrica. 1995; 84(4): 416- 418.

- 20. Fu, Y.H., Pizzuti, A., Fenwick, R.G., King, J., Rajnarayan, S. et al. An unstable triplet repeat in a gene related to myotonic muscular dystrophy. Science. 1992; 255(5049): 1256-1258.
- Gennarelli, M., Pavoni, M., Amicucci, P., Novelli, G., Dallapiccola, B. A single polymerase chain reaction-based protocol for detecting normal and expanded alleles in myotonic dystrophy. Diagnostic Molecular Pathology. 1998; 7(3): 135-137.
- 22. Gennarelli, M., Novelli, G., Andreasi Bassi, F. et al. Prediction of myotonic dystrophy clinical severity based on the number of intragenic (CTG)n trinucleotide repeats. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 1996; 65(4): 342-347.
- 23. Glanz, A. & Fraser, F.C. Risk estimates for neonatal myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1984; 21(3): 186-188.
- 24. Hamshere, M.G., Harley, H., Harper, P.S., Brook, J.D., Brookfield, J. Myotonic dystrophy: the correlation of (CTG) repeat length in leucocytes with age at onset is significant only for patients with small expansions. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1999; 36(1): 59-61.
- 25. Hamzi, K., Bellayou, H., Slassi, I., Nadifi, S. A rapid polymerase chain reaction-based test for Steinert's disease (DM1). Neurol India. 2010; 58(1): 99-102.
- 26. Harris, S., Moncrieff, C., Johnson, K. Myotonic dystrophy: will the real gene please step forward! Human Molecular Genetics. 1996; 5 Spec No: 1417-1423.
- 27. Hecht, B.K., Donnelly, A., Gedeon, A.K., Byard, R.W., Haan, E.A., Mulley, J.C. Direct molecular diagnosis of myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 1993; 43(6): 276-85.
- Hojo, K., Yamagata, H., Moji, H., Fujita, T. Miki, T., Fujimura, M., Kidoguchi, K. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: molecular diagnosis and clinical study. American Journal of Perinatology. 1995; 12(3): 195-200.
- Jordan Garcia, I., Fernandez Lopez, A., Romera Modamio, G., Rodriguez-Miguelez, J.M., Ballesta, F., Aloy, J.F. Steinert's congenital myotonic dystrophy. Genetic aspects. Anales Espanoles de Pediatria. 1997; 47(5): 539-542.
- 30. Joseph, J.T., Richards, C.S., Anthony, D.C., Upton, M., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Greenstein, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism. Neurology. 1997; 49(5): 1457-1460.
- Kalman, L., Tarleton, J., Hitch, M., Hedge, M., Hjelm, N. et al. Development of genomic DNA reference material panel for myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) genetic testing. The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics. 2013; 15(4): 518-525.
- 32. Kaliman, P. & Llagostera, E. Myotonic dystrophy protein kinase (DMPK) and its role in the pathogenesis of myotonic dystrophy 1. Cell signal. 2008; 20(11): 1935-1941.
- 33. 33. Kojo, T. & Arahata, K. Clinical and molecular genetic analyses of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Clinical Medicine. 1997; 55(12): 3234-3238.
- Lesca, G., Hays, S., Bourgeois, J., Bost, M., Ollagnon-Roman, E., Putet, G. Diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy in a neonate: its familita consequences. Archives de Pediatrie. 2003; 10(5): 466-467.
- Mahadevan, M.S., Tsilfidis, C., Sabourin, L., Shutler, G., Amemiya, C., Janson, G. et al. Myotonic dystrophy mutation: an unstable triplet repeat in a gene related to myotonic muscular dystrophy. Science. 1992. 255(5049): 1253-1255.

- Marchini, C., Lonigro, R., Verriello, L., Pellizzari, L., Bergonzi, P., Damante, G. Correlations between individual clinical manifestations and CTG repeat amplification in myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 2000; 57(1): 74-82.
- 37. Martin, P., Sierra, J., Losada, A., Rufo, M., Lucas, M. Molecular genetic study in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Revista de Neurologica. 1997; 25(142): 833-836.
- 38. Meola, G. Clinical aspects, molecular pathomechanisms and management of myotonic dystrophies. Acta Myologica. 2013; 32(3): 154-165.
- Monckton, D.G., Wong, L.J.C., Ashizawa, T., Caskey, C.T. Somatic mosaicism, germline expansions, germline reversions and intergenerational reductions in myotonic dystrophy males: small pool PCR analyses. Human Molecular Genetics. 1995; 4(1): 1-8.
- 40. Musova, Z., Mazanec, R., Krepelova, A. et al. Highly unstable sequence interruptions of the CTG repeat in the myotonic dystrophy gene. Am J Med Genet. 2009; 149A(7): 1365-1374.
- Neri, G., Bertini, E., Serra, A., Tedeschi, B., Campana, M. et al. Myotonic dystrophy and chromosome translocation segregating in the same family. Journal of Neurogenetics. 1987; 4(1): 47-56.
- 42. O'Hoy, K.I., Tsilfidis, C., Mahadevan, M.S. et al. Reduction in size of the myotonic dystrophy trinucleotide repeat mutation during transmission. Science. 1993; 259(5096): 809-812.
- 43. Ohya, K., Tachi, N., Sato, T., Kon, S., Kikuchi, K., Chiba, S. Detection of the CTG repeat expansion in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Human Genetics. 1997; 42(1): 169-180.
- 44. Passos-Bueno, M.R., Cerqueira, A., Vainzof, M., Marie, S.K., Zatz, M. et al. Myotonic dystrophy: genetic, clinical, and molecular analysis of patients from 41 Brazilian families. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1995; 32(1): 14-18 duplicate
- 45. Polanski, A., Chakraorty, R., Kimmel, M., Deka, R. Dynamic balance of segregation distortion and selection maintains normal allele sizes at the myotonic dystrophy locus. Mathematical Biosciences. 1998; 147(1): 93-112.
- 46. Poulton, J. Congenital myotonic dystrophy and mtDNA. American Journal of Human Genetics. 1992; 50(3): 651-652.
- 47. Pratte, A., Prevost, C., Puymirat, J., Mathieu, J. Anticipation in myotonic dystrophy type 1 parents with small CTG expansions. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 2015; 167A(4): 708-714.
- Spits, C., Seneca, D., Hilven, P., Liebaers, I., Sermon, K. Methylation of the CpG sites in the myotonic dystrophy locus does not correlate with CTG expansion size or with the congenital form of the disease. J Med Genet. 2010; 47(10): 700-703.
- 49. Spranger, M., Janssen, B., Rating, D., Spranger, S. Disease picture of myotonic muscular dystrophy in patients with large CTG triplet expansion. Der Nervenarzt. 1999; 70(2): 131-135.
- Steinbach, P., Glaser, D., Vogel, W., Wolf, M., Schwemmle, S. The DMPK gene of severely affected myotonic dystrophy patients in hypermethylated proximal to the largely expanded CTG repeat. American Journal of Human Genetics. 1998; 62(2): 278-285.
- Tachi, N., Ohya, K., Chiba, S. Expression of the myotonic dystrophy locus-associated homeodomain protein in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Child Neurology. 1999; 14(7): 471-473.

- Tachi, N., Ohya, K., Chiba, S., Yamagata, H., Miki, T., Kikuchi, K., Chiba, S. Haplotype analysis of congenital myotonic dystrophy patients from asymptomatic DM father. Pediatric Neurology. 1997; 16(4): 315-318.
- Tachi, N., Kozuka, N., Ohya, K., Chiba, S., Kikuchi, K. CTG repeat size and histologic findings of skeletal muscle from patients with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Child Neurology. 1996; 11(6): 430-432.
- 54. Tachi, N., Ohya, K., Chiba, S., Sato, T., Kikuchi, K. Minimal somatic instability of CTG repeat in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1995; 12(1): 81-83.
- 55. Tanka, Y., Suzuki, Y., Shimozawa, N., Nanba, E., Kondo, N. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: report of paternal transmission. Brain and Development. 2000; 22: 132-134.
- 56. The International Myotonic Dystrophy Consortium. New nomenclature and DNA testing guidelines for myotonic dystoprhy type 1 (DM1). Neurology. 2000; 54: 1218-1221.
- 57. Sermon, K., de Vos, A., van de Velde, H. et al Fluorescent PCR and automated fragment analysis for the clinical application of preimlantation genetic diagnosis of myotonic dystrophy. (Steinert's disease). Molecular Human Reproduction. 1998; 4(8)
- 58. Sermon, K., Lissens, W., Joris, H., et al. Clinical application of preimplantation diagnosis for myotonic dystrophy. Prenatal Diagnosis. 1997; 17(10): 925-932.
- 59. Sewry, C.A., Quinlivan, R.C., Squier, W., Morris, G.E., Holt, I. A rapid immunohistochemical test to distinguish congenital myotonic dystrophy from X-linked myotubular myopathy. Neuromuscul Disord. 2012; 22(3): 225-230.
- 60. Zühlke, C., Atici, J., Martorell, L., Gembruch, U., Kohl, M. et al. Rapid detection of expansions by PCR and non-radioactive hybridization: application for prenatal diagnosis of myotonic dystrophy. Prenatal Diagnosis. 2000; 20(1): 66-69.

#### **Neonatal care**

- 1. Argov, Z. & de Visser, M. What we do not know about pregnancy in hereditary neuromuscular disorders. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2009; 19(10): 675-679.
- 2. Atlas, I. & Smolin, A. Combined maternal and congenital myotonic dystrophy managed by multidisciplinary team. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1999; 87(2): 175-178
- Geifman-Holtzman, O. & Fay, K. Prenatal Diagnosis of Congenital Myotonic Dystrophy and Counseling of the Pregnant Mother; case report and literature review. Am J Med Gete. 1998; 78(3): 135-137.
- 4. Briard, M.L., Le Merrer, M., Goutieres, F., Aicardi, J., Frezal, J. Pregnancy abnormalities as alerting signs of Steinert's congenital myotonic dystrophy. J de Genetique Humaine. 1980; 28(3): 189-194.
- 5. Chung, H.T., Tam, A.Y., Wong, V., Li, D.F., Ma, J.T. et al. Dystrophia myotonica and pregnancy- an instructive case. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 1987; 63(741): 555-557.
- 6. Dean, N.L., Tan, S.L., Ao, A. Instability in the transmission of the myotonic dystrophy CTG repeat in human oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Fertility and Sterility. 2006; 86(1): 98- 105.
- Dechanet, C., Castelli, C., Reyftmann, L. et al. Myotonic dystrophy type 1 and PGD: ovarian stimulation response and correlation analysis between ovarian reserve and genotype. Reproductive BioMedicine Online. 2010; 20(5): 610-618.

- 8. Delest, A., Elhage, A., Cosson, M., Leclercq, G. et al. Steinert's disease and pregnancy. A case and recent literature. J de Gynecologie, Ocstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 1995; 24(2): 177-180.
- de Rademaeker, M., Verpoest, W., de Rycke, M. et al. Preimplantation genetic diagnosis for myotonic dystrophy type 1: upon request to child. European Journal of Human Genetics. 2009; 17(11): 1403-1410.
- de Temmerman, N., Sermon, K., Seneca, S. et al. Intergenerational instability of the expanded CTG repeat in the DMPK gene: studies in human gametes and preimplantation embryos. American Journal of Human Genetics. 2004. 75(2): 325-329.
- Dufour, P., Berard, J., Vinatier, D., Savary, J.B., Dubreucq, S., Monnier, J.C., Puech, F. Myotonic dystrophy and pregnany. A report of two cases and a review of literature. Eur J of Obstet, Gynec Reprod Biol. 1997; 72(2): 159-164.
- 12. Erikson, A., Forsberg, H., Drugge, U., Holmgren G. Outcome of pregnancy in women with myotonic dystrophy and analysis of CTG gene expansion. Acta Paediatrica. 1995; 84(4): 416- 418.
- Esplin, M.S., Hallam, S., Farrington, P.F., Nelson, L., Byrne, J. et al. Myotonic dystrophy is a significant cause of idiopathic polyhydramnios. Am J Obstet & Gynec. 1998; 179(4): 974-977
- 14. Fox, G.N. & Gravett, M.G. Neonatal myotonic dystrophy associated with prenatal ventriculomegaly. A case report. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 1986; 31(8): 729-731.
- 15. Frazer, K.L., Porter, S., Goss, C. The genetics and implications of neuromuscular diseases in pregnancy. J Perinat Neonatl Nurs. 2013; 27(3): 205-214.
- Garcia de Andoin, N., Echeverria, J., Cobo, A.M., Rey, A., Paisan, L. et al. A neonatal form of Steinert's myotonic dystrophy in twins after in vitro fertilization. Fertility and sterility. 2005; 84(3): 756.
- Geifman-Holtzman, O. & Fay, K. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy and counseling of the pregnant mother: case report and literature review. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 1998; 78(3): 250-253.
- 18. Güler, B., Sertap, K.H., Kiziltan, M.Y. Variable genetic penetrance of myotonic dystrophy following the diagnosis of idiopathic polyhydramnios. Int J Gynec Obstet. 2016; 134(1): 103.
- 19. Harper, P.S. & Dyken, P.R. Early-onset dystrophia myotonica. Evidence supporting a maternal environment factor. Lancet. 1972; 2(7767): 53-55.
- 20. Hsu, C.D., Feng, T.I., Crawford, T.O, Johnson, T.R. Unusual fetal movement in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Fetal Diagnosis & Therapy. 1993; 8(3): 200-202.
- Ito, T., Tanikawa, M., Miura, H., Teshima, N., Kadowaki, K., Nagata, N., Makio, A., Terakawa, N. The movements of fetuses with congenital myotonic dystrophy in utero. Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 1996; 24(3): 277-282.
- 22. Jaffe, R., Mock, M., Abramowicz, J., Ben-Aderet, N. Myotonic dystrophy and pregnancy: a review. Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey. 1986; 41(5): 272-278.
- 23. Jayawant, S. & Sinha, R. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: a rare cause of polyhydramnios. Indian Pediatrics. 2004; 41(7): 746-747.
- 24. Kahn, J. & Cataltepe, S. A 35-week Neonate with Respiratory Failure, Hypotonia, and Joint Contractures. Current in Opinion in Pediatrics. 1996; 8: 583-588.

- 25. Kakourou, G., Dhanjal, S., Mamas, T. et al. Preimplantation genetic diagnosis for myotonic dystrophy type 1 in the UK. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2008; 18(2): 131-136.
- Levine, A.B., Eddleman, K.A., Chitkara, U., Willner, J.P., Vosatka, R.J., Berkowitz, R.L. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: an often unsuspected cause of severe polyhydramnios. Prenatal Diagnosis. 1991; 11(2): 111-115.
- Martorell, L., Cobo, A.M., Baiget, M., Naudo, M., Poza, J.J., Parra, J. Prenatal diagnosis in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Thirteen years of experience: implications for reproductive counseling in DM1 families. Prenatal Diagnosis. 2007; 27: 68-72.
- Martorell, L., Cobo, A.M., Parra, J., Naudo, M., Baiget, M. Prenatal diagnosis in Myotonic Dystrophy Type I (DM1): The Spanish experience. 5th International Myotonic Dystrophy Consortium Meeting (IDMC-5). Quebec City, Canada. 2005; 5: 26.
- 29. Mashiach, R., Rimon, E., Achiron, R. Tent-shaped mouth as a presenting symptom of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2002; 20(3): 312-313.
- Myring, J., Meredith, A.L., Harley, H.G., Kohn, G., Norbury, G. Harper, P.S., Shaw, D.T. Specific molecular prenatal diagnosis for theTG mutation in myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Medical Genetics. 1992; 29(11): 785-788.
- 31. Nanba, E., Ito, T., Kadowaki, K., Makio, A., Nakagawa, M., Yamamoto, T. Yuasa, I., Takeshita, K. Prenatal diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy in two Japanese families: direct mutation analysis by a non-radioisotope PCR method and haplotype analysis with flanking DNA markers. Brain & Development. 1996; 18(2): 122-126
- Nurowska, E., Constanti, A., Dworakowska, B., Moult, V., Furling, D. et al. Potassium currents in human myogenic cells from healthy and congenital myotonic dystrophy fetuses. Cellular & Molecular Biology Letter. 2009; 14(2): 336-346.
- Palmerio, G., Rosaschino, P., Castelli, G., Zambetti, E., Bianchi, P., Martinelli, D. A rare cause of polyhydramnios: Steinert's syndrome. A clinical case report. Minerva Ginecologica. 1997; 49(1-2): 49-52.
- Risseeuw, J.J., Oudshoorn, J.H., van der Straaten, P.J., Kuypers, J.C. Myotonic dystrophy in pregnancy: a report of two cases within one family. Ur J of Obstet, Gynec, & Reprod Biol. 1997; 73(2): 145-148.
- Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Nicholson, G.A., Morgan, G., Rohrig, D., Zerres, K. Different Patterns of Obstetric Complications in Myotonic Dystrophy in Relation to the Disease Status of the Fetus. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 1998; 80(4): 314-321.
- 36. Schild, R.L., Plath, H., Hofstaetter, C., Brenner, R., Mann, E. et al. Polyhydraminos: an association with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 1998; 18(5): 484-485.
- 37. Schwartz, I.L., Dingfelder, J.R., O'Tuama, L., Swift, M. Recessive congenital myotonia and pregnancy. Int J Gynacol & Obstet. 1979; 17(2): 194-196.
- 38. Sermon, K., Lissens, W., Joris, H. et al. Clinical application of preimplantation diagnosis for myotonic dystrophy. Prenatal Diagnosis. 1997; 17(10): 925-932.
- 39. Sholl, J,.S., Highey, M.J., Hirschmann, R.A. Myotonic muscular dystrophy associated with ritodrine tocolysis. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1985; 151(1): 83-86.

- Son, S.B., Chun, J.M., Kim, K.A., Ko, S.Y., Lee, Y.K., Shin, S.M. A case report on 30-week premature twin babies with congenital myotonic dystrophy conceived by in vitro fertilization. J Korean Med Sci. 2012; 27(10): 1269-1272.
- 41. Stratton, R.F. & Patterson, R.M. DNA confirmation of congenital myotonic dystrophy in nonimmune hydrops fetalis. Prenatal Diagnosis. 1993; 13(11): 1027-1030.
- 42. Sun, S.F., Binder, J., Streib, E., Goodlin, R.C. Myotonic dystrophy: obstetric and neonatal complications. Southern Medical Journal. 1985; 78(7): 823-826.
- Redman, J., Fenwick, G., Fu, Y., Pizzuti, A., Caskey, C.T. Relationship Between Parental Trinucleotide GCT Repeat Length and Severity of Myotonic Dystrophy in Offspring. JAMA. 1993; 269(15): 1960-1965.

## Neonatal/pregnancy

- 1. Afifi, A.M., Bhatia, A.R., Eyal, F. Hydrops fetalis associated with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992; 166(3): 929-930.
- 2. Aicardi, J., Conti, D., Goutiéres, F. Neonatal forms of Steinert's myotonic dystrophy. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 1974; 22(2): 149-164.
- 3. Atlas, I. & Smolin, A. Combined maternal and congenital myotonic dystrophy managed by multidisciplinary team. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1999; 87(2): 175-178
- 4. Charrow, J. A newborn girl with hypotonia and respiratory failure. Pediatr Ann. 2007; 36(12): 777, 781-2.
- 5. 49. Connolly, M.B., Roland, E.H., Hill., A. Clinical Features for Prediction of Survival in Neonatal Muscles Disease. Pediatric Neurology. 1992; 8: 285-288
- 6. Curry, C.J., Chopra, D., Finer, N.N. Hydrops and pleural effusions in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Pediatrics. 1988; 113(2): 555-557.
- Domingues, S., Alves Pereira, C., Machado, A., Pereira, S., Machado, L. et al. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: case series. Archivos Argeninos de Pediatria. 2014; 112(1): e18-e22.
- Echenne, B., Rideau, A., Roubertie, A., Sébire, G., Rivier, F., Lemieux, B. Myotonic dystrophy type I in childhood. Long-term evolution in patients surviving the neonatal period. European Journal of Paediatric Neurology. 2008; 12(3): 210-223.
- 9. Erazo-Torricelli, R. Neonatal hypotonia. Revista de Neurologia. 2000; 31(3): 252-262.
- 10. Floriach-Robery, M., Cabello, A., Simon De Las Hera, R., Mateos Beato, F. Neonatal hypotonia of muscular origin: analysis of 50 cases. Neurologia. 2001; 16(6): 245-253.
- 11. Fox, G.N. & Gravett, M.G. Neonatal myotonic dystrophy associated with prenatal ventriculomegaly. A case report. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 1986; 31(8): 729-731.
- 12. Ghizzi, C., Cavalli, C., Benedetti, M., Bolognani, M., Bipan, P. A neonatal case of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Acta Bio-Medica de l Ateneo Parmense. 2000; 71 Suppl 1: 759-763.
- Gomez Manchon, M., Beceiro Mosquera, J., Olivas Lopez de Soria, C., Ripalda, M.J., Garcia de Frias, E. Congenital myotonic dystrophy and hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Anales de Pediatria. 2005; 62(1): 78-79.

- Horan, M. & Stutchfield, P.R. Severe congenital myotonic dystrophy and severe anaemia of prematurity in an infant of Jehovah's Witness parents. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2001; 43(5): 346-349.
- 15. Johnston, H.M. The floppy weak infant revisited. Brain & Development. 2003; 25(3): 155-158.
- 16. Kahn, J. & Cataltepe, S. A 35-week Neonate with Respiratory Failure, Hypotonia, and Joint Contractures. Current in Opinion in Pediatrics. 1996; 8: 583-588.
- 17. Kasagi, S., Shiota, M., Ando, M., Takeshita, K. Hyperinsulinism in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 1989; 21(6): 585-587.
- 18. Kimura, S., Amemiya, F., Fukazawa, H. Cystinuria with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1987; 3(4): 233-234.
- 19. Krause, W., Kirchner, M., Schmidt, A., Clausner, B. Congenital myotonic dystrophy. Zeitschrift fur Geburtshilfe und Perinatologie. 1984; 188(2): 94-99.
- 20. Lee, S.Y., Chan, K.Y., Chow, C.B. Survival of a 30-week baby with congenital myotonic dystrophy initially ventilated for 55 days. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 1999; 35(3): 313-314.
- Lesca, G., Hays, S., Bourgeois, J., Bost, M., Ollagnon-Roman, E., Putet, G. Diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy in a neonate: its familita consequences. Archives de Pediatrie. 2003; 10(5): 466-467.
- Lidang, J.M., Rix, M., Schroder, ,D., Teglbjaerg, P.S., Ebbesen, F. Fetal akinesia-hypokinesia deformation sequence (FADS) in 2 siblings with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Neuropathology. 1995; 14(2): 105-108.
- 23. Manabe, A., Mori, I., Fujimoto, H., Tsunawaki, A., Kondo, Y. A case of congenital myotonic dystrophy with Hydrops fetalis. Acta Ocstetrica et Gynaecologica Japonica. 1992; 44(12): 1587-1590.
- 24. Miyata, M., Kato, N., Kybota, M., Suzuki, K., Yamazaki, T. Hyperkalemia in a neonate with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatr Int. 2009; 51(2): 296-297.
- Nurowska, E., Constanti, A., Dworakowska, B., Moult, V., Furling, D. et al. Potassium currents in human myogenic cells from healthy and congenital myotonic dystrophy fetuses. Cellular & Molecular Biology Letter. 2009; 14(2): 336-346.
- Osborne, J.P., Murphy, E.G., Hill, A. Thin ribs on chest X-ray: a useful sign in the differential diagnosis of the floppy newborn. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 1983; 25(3): 343-345.
- Palmerio, G., Rosaschino, P., Castelli, G., Zambetti, E., Bianchi, P., Martinelli, D. A rare cause of polyhydramnios: Steinert's syndrome. A clinical case report. Minerva Ginecologica. 1997; 49(1-2): 49-52.
- 28. Parker, N. Dystrophia Myotonica Presenting as Congenital Facial Diplegia. The Medical Journal of Australia. 1963; 7(2): 939-944.
- 29. Pearse, R.G. & Höweler, C.J. Neonatal form of dystrophia myotonica. Five cases in preterm babies and a review of earlier reports. Arch Dis Child. 1979; 54(5): 331-338.
- Prasad, A.N. & Prasad, C. The floppy infant: contribution of genetic and metabolic disorders. Brain & Development. 2003; 25(7): 457-476.
- 31. Prendergast, P., Magalhaes, S., Campbell, C. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in a national registry. Paediatr Child Health. 2010; 15(8): 514-518.

- 32. Pruzanski, W. Congenital Malformations in Myotonic Dystrophy. Acta Neurologica Scandinavica. 1965; 41: 34-38.
- 33. Rodrigues, E., Rodrigues, L., Barbosa, M., Ramos, S., Pontes, M., Coelho, E., Proenca, E. A newborn with hypotonia and abnormal facies. BMJ. 2011; 342: d2938.
- Sahgal, V., Bernes, S., Sahgal, S., Lischwey, C., Subramani, V. Skeletal muscle in preterm infants with congential myotonic dystrophy. Morphologic and histochemical study. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 1983; 59(1): 47-55.
- Sahgal, V., Sahgal, S., Bernes, S., Subramani, V. Ultrastructure of muscle spindle in congenital myotonic dystrophy. A study of preterm infant muscle spindles. Acta Neuropathologica. 1983; 61(3-4): 207-213.
- 36. Schild, R.L., Plath H., Hofstaetter, C., Brenner, R., Mann, E. et al. Polyhydraminos: an association with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 1998; 18(5): 484-485.
- 37. Schwartz, I.L., Dingfelder, J.R., O'Tuama, L., Swift, M. Recessive congenital myotonia and pregnancy. Int J Gynacol & Obstet. 1979; 17(2): 194-196.
- Sholl, J.S., Hughey, M.J., Hirschmann, R.A. Myotonic muscular dystrophy associated with ritodrine tocolysis. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1985; 151(1): 83-86.
- 39. Stratton, R.F. & Patterson, R.M. DNA confirmation of congenital myotonic dystrophy in nonimmune hydrops fetalis. Prenatal Diagnosis. 1993; 13(11): 1027-1030.
- 40. Sun, S.F., Binder, J., Streib, E., Goodlin, R.C. Myotonic dystrophy: obstetric and neonatal complications. Southern Medical Journal. 1985; 78(7): 823-826.
- Takano, Y., Okada, K., Murata, K., Mizukami, S., Sato, I. Anesthetic management for cesarean section in patients with maternal myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Anesthesiology. 1994; 43(9):1348-1351.
- Teeuw, A.H., Barth, P.G., van Sonderen, L., Zondervan, H.A. 3 examples of fetal genetic neuromuscular disorders which lead to hydramnion. Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde. 1993; 137(18): 908-913.
- Upadhyay, K., Thomson, A., Luckas, M.J. Congenital myotonic dystrophy. Fetal Diagnosis & Therapy. 2005; 20(6): 512-514.
- 44. van de Biezenbos, J.B., Nijhuis, J.G., Brunner, H.G. Dystrophia myotonica and pregnancy. Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde. 1992; 136(50): 2480-2482.
- 45. Verrijn Stuart, A.A., Huisman, M., van Straaten, H.L., Bakker, J.C., Arabin, B. "Shake hands;" diagnosing a floppy infant- myotonic dystrophy and the congenital subtype: a difficult perinatal diagnosis. Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 2000; 28(6): 497-501.
- 46. Volpe, J.J. & Edward, B. Neuhauser lecture. Current concepts of brain injury in the premature infant. Am J Roentgerol. 1989; 153(2): 243-251.
- 47. Webb, D., Muir, I., Faulkner, J., Johnson, G. Myotonia dystrophica: obstetric complications. Am J Obstet & Gynecol. 1978; 132(3): 265-270.
- 48. Wexler, H.A. & Poole, C.A. Neonatal diaphragmatic dysfunction. American Journal of Roentgenology. 1976; 127(4): 617-622.

- 49. Winblad, S., Lindberg, C., Hansen, S. Cognitive deficits and CTG repeat expansion size in classical myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1). Behavioural and Brain Functions. 2006; 2(16).
- Yong, S.C., Boo, N.Y., Ong, L.C. A case of congenital myotonic dystrophy presented with diaphragmatic paresis during the neonatal period. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 2003; 39(7): 567-568.
- Zaki, M., Boyd, P.A., Impey, L., Roberts, A., Chamberlain, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: prenatal ultrasound findings and pregnancy outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 29(3): 284-288.

## End of life counseling and management

- 1. Charrow, J. A newborn girl with hypotonia and respiratory failure. Pediatr Ann. 2007; 36(12): 777, 781-2.
- Hilbert, J.E., Johnson, N.E., Moxley, R. New insights about the incidence, multisystem manifestations, and care of patients with congenital myotonic dystrophy. The Journal of Pediatrics. 2013; 163(1): 12-14
- 3. Horan, M. & Stutchfield, P.R. Severe congenital myotonic dystrophy and severe anaemia of prematurity in an infant of Jehovah's Witness parents. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2001; 43(5): 346-349.
- 4. Ilce, Z., Celayir, S., Tekand, G.T.m, Murant, N.S., Erdoan, E., Yeker, D. Tracheostomy in childhood: 20 years experience from a pediatric surgery clinic. Pediatrics International. 2002; 44(3): 306-309.
- 5. Ishigaki, K., Muto, A., Osawa, M. Clinical features and care of patients with congenital and childhood-onset myotonic dystrophy. Rinsho Shinkeigaku. 2012; 52(11): 1264-1266.
- 6. Johnson, N.E., Luebbe, E., Eastwood, E., Chin, N., Moxley, T., Heatwole, C.R. The impact of congenital and childhood myotonic dystrophy on quality of life: a qualitative study of associated symptoms. Journal of Child Neurology. 2014; 29(7): 983-986.
- 7. Keller, C., Reynolds, A., Lee, B., Garcia-Prats, J. Congenital myotonic dystrophy requiring prolonged endotracheal and noninvasive assisted ventilation: not a uniformly fatal condition. Pediatrics. 1998; 101: 704-706
- 8. Lee, S.Y., Chan, K.Y., Chow, C.B. Survival of a 30-week baby with congenital myotonic dystrophy initially ventilated for 55 days. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 1999; 35(3): 313-314.
- Lesca, G., Hays, S., Bourgeois, J., Bost, M., Ollagnon-Roman, E., Putet, G. Diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy in a neonate: its familita consequences. Archives de Pediatrie. 2003; 10(5): 466-467.
- 10. Mathieu, J., Allard, P., Potvin, L., Prévost, C., Begin, P. A 10-year study of mortality in a cohort of patients with myotonic dystrophy. Neurology. 1999; 52(8): 1658-1662.
- Mladenovic, J., Pekmezovic, T., Todorovic, S. et al. Survival and mortality of myotonic dystrophy type 1 (Steinert's disease in the population of Belgrade. European Journal of Neurology. 2006; 13(5): 451-454.
- Reardon, W., Newcombe, R., Fenton, I., Sibert, J., Harper, P.S. The natural history of congenital myotonic dystrophy: mortality and long term clinical aspects. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1993; 68(2): 177-181.
- 13. Strehle, E.M. Long-term management of children with neuromuscular disorders. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2009; 85(5): 379-384.

## Surgery and anesthesia

- 1. Anderson, B.J. & Brown, T.C. Anaesthesia for a child with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Anaesthesia & Intensive Care. 1989; 17(3): 351-354.
- 2. Anderson, B.J. & Brown, T.C. Congenital myotonic dystrophy in children- a review of ten years' experience. Anaesthesia & Intensive Care. 1989; 17(3): 320-324.
- 3. Bray, R.J. & Inkster, J.S. Anaesthesia in babies with congenital dystrophia myotonica. Anaesthesia. 1984; 39(10): 1007-1011.
- Colovic, V. & Walker, R.W. Myotonia dystrophica and spinal surgery. Paediatric Anaesthesia. 2002; 12(4): 351-355
- 5. Ilce, Z., Celayir, S., Tekand, G.T.m, Murant, N.S., Erdoan, E., Yeker, D. Tracheostomy in childhood: 20 years experience from a pediatric surgery clinic. Pediatrics International. 2002; 44(3): 306-309.
- Joh, J.H., Kim, J.Y., Baek, S., Song, J., Lee, Y.M., Kim, J.U. Total intravenous anesthesia in a 10-month-old patient with congenital myotonic dystrophy undergoing endoscopic third ventriculostomy: A case report. Kor J Anesthesiol. 2012; 63(3): 169-172.
- Mutchnick, I.S., Thatikunta, M.A., Grump, W.C., Stewart, D.L., Moriary, T.M. et al. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: ventriculomegaly and shunt considerations for the pediatric neurosurgeon. Child's Nervous System. 2016; 32(4): 609-616.
- 8. Joh, J.H., Kim, J.Y., Baek, S., Song, J., Lee, Y.M., Kim, J.U. Total intravenous anesthesia in a 10-month-old patient with congenital myotonic dystrophy undergoing endoscopic third ventriculostomy: A case report. Kor J Anesthesiol. 2012; 63(3): 169-172.
- 9. Sakai, A., Nakagawa, I., Niinai, H., Hamada, H., Kimura, M. Propofol anesthesia for a patient with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Anesthesiology. 1999; 48(9): 1030-1032.
- 10. Shiraishi, M., Minami, K., Kadaya, T. A safe anesthetic method causing caudal block and ketamine for the child with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2002; 94(1): 233.
- 11. Sinclair, J.L. & Reed, P.W. Risk factors for perioperative adverse events in children with myotonic dystrophy. Paediatr Anaesth. 2009; 19(8): 740-747.
- 12. Souayah, N., Tick Chong, P.S., Dreyer, M., Cros, D., Schmahmann, J.D. et al. Myotonic dystrophy type 1 presenting with ventilatory failure. Journal of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease. 2007; 9(1): 252-255.
- 13. Stourac, P., Krikava, I., Seidlova, J., Strazevska, E., Huser, M., et al. Sugammadex in a parturient with myotonic dystrophy. Br J Anaesth. 2013; 110(4): 657-658.
- Takano, Y., Okada, K., Murata, K., Mizukami, S., Sato, I. Anesthetic management for cesarean section in patients with maternal myotonic dystrophy. Japanese Journal of Anesthesiology. 1994; 43(9):1348-1351.
- 15. Veyckemans, F. & Scholtes, J. Myotonic dystrophies type 1 and 2: anesthetic care. Paediatric Anesthesia. 2013; 23(9): 794-803.
- 16. Veyckemans, F. Can inhalation agents be used in the presence of a child with myopathy? Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2010; 23(3): 348-355.

# **Respiratory management**

- 1. Annane, D., Orlikowski, D., Chevret, S., Chevrolet, J.C., Raphaël, J.C. Nocturnal mechanical ventilation for hypoventilation in patients with neuromuscular and chest wall disorders. Cochrane database Syst Rev. 2007; CD001941.
- 2. Avanzini, A., Crossignani, R.M., Colombini, A. Sleep apnea and respiratory dysfunction in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Minerva Pediatrica. 2001; 53(3): 221-225.
- 3. Campbell, C., Magalhaes, S., Lyttle, B., Frewen, T., Levin, S. Prolonged Ventilation in Congenital DM. 5th International Myotonic Dystrophy Consortium Meeting. Quebec, Canada. 2005; P12: 101.
- 4. Campbell, C., Sherlock, R., Jacob. P., Blayney, M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: assisted ventilation duration and outcome. Pediatrics. 2004; 113(4): 811-816
- Cantagrel, S., Chamboux, C., Toutain, A., Laugier, J. Congenital neonatal myotonic dystrophy with persistent pulmonary hypertension and coma: a difficult diagnosis. Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 1999; 27(2): 136-37
- Charrow, J. A newborn girl with hypotonia and respiratory failure. Pediatr Ann. 2007; 36(12): 777, 781-2.
- 7. Chau, S.K. & Lee, S.L. Successful use of BiPAP in infants with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatr Int. 2013; 55(2): 243-245.
- Dinger, J. & Lorenz, P. Neuromuscular diseases as a cause of neonatal respiratory insufficiency. Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde Organ der Deutchen Gesellschaft fur Kinderheilkunde. 1991; 139(10): 692-694.
- Keller, C., Reynolds, A., Lee, B., Garcia-Prats, J. Congenital myotonic dystrophy requiring prolonged endotracheal and noninvasive assisted ventilation: not a uniformly fatal condition. Pediatrics. 1998; 101: 704-706
- 10. Kobayashi, Y., Tsutsumi, Y., Sasaki, G., Kamimaki, I. Pneumoperitoneum complicating mechanical ventilation congenital myotonic dystrophy. Acta Paediatrica Japonica. 1997; 39(3): 379-381.
- 11. Lee, S.Y., Chan, K.Y., Chow, C.B. Survival of a 30-week baby with congenital myotonic dystrophy initially ventilated for 55 days. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 1999; 35(3): 313-314.
- 12. Moerman, P., Fryns, J.P., Devliger, H., Van Assche, A., Lauweryns, J. Congenital eventration of the diaphragm:an unusual cause of intractable neonatal respiratory distress with variable etiology. Am J Med Genet. 1987; 27(1): 213-218.
- 13. Nitz, J. & Burke, B. A study of the facilitation of respiration in myotonic dystrophy. Physiotherapy Research International. 2002; 7(4): 228-238.
- 14. Ruscák, J. Myotonic dystrophy and myotonin kinase protein gene mutation. Bratislavské Lekárske Listy. 1997; 98(5): 274-277.
- 15. Souayah, N., Tick Chong, P.S., Dreyer, M., Cros, D., Schmahmann, J.D. et al. Myotonic dystrophy type 1 presenting with ventilatory failure. Journal of Clinical Neuromuscular Disease. 2007; 9(1): 252-255.
- Vilos, G.A., McLeod, W.J., Carmichael, L., Probert, C., Harding, P.G. Absence or impaired response of fetal breathing to intravenous glucose is associated with pulmonary hypoplasia in congenital myotonic dystrophy. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1984; 148(5): 558-562.

- Wallgren-Pettersson, C., Bushby, K., Mellies, U., Simonds, A. 117th ENMC workshop: ventilatory support in congenital neuromuscular disorders- congenital myopathies, congenital muscular dystrophies, congenital myotonic dystrophy and SMA (II). Neuromuscular Disorders. 2004; 14(1): 56-59. Naarden, The Netherlands.
- 18. Wexler, H.A. & Poole, C.A. Neonatal diaphragmatic dysfunction. American Journal of Roentgenology. 1976; 127(4): 617-622.
- 19. Wong, P., Kirpalani, H., Murphy, G., Becker, L. Duration of ventilation in myotonic dystrophy predicts poor outcome. Neurology. 1976; 26: 498A.
- Yong, S.C., Boo, N.Y., Ong, L.C. A case of congenital myotonic dystrophy presented with diaphragmatic paresis during the neonatal period. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 2003; 39(7): 567-568.

### **Cardiovascular management**

- 1. Badano, L., Autore, L., Fragola, P.V., Picelli, A., Antonini, G., Vichi, R. et al. Left ventricular myocardial function in myotonic dystrophy. Am J Cardio. 1993; 71(11): 987-991.
- 2. Bassez, G., Lazarus, A., Desguerre, I., Varin, J. et al. Severe cardiac arrhythmias in young patients with myotonic dystrophy type 1. Neurology. 2004; 63(10): 1939-1941
- 3. Timchenko, L. Reversal of fortune. Nature Genetics. 2006; 38(9): 976-977
- 4. Bu'Lock, F.A., Sood, M., De Giovanni, J.V., Green S.H. Left ventriclar diastolic function in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Archives of Disease in Childhood. 1999; 80(3): 267-270.
- 5. Chaudhry, S.P. & Frishman, W.H. Myotonic dystrophies and the heart. Cardiol Rev. 2012; 20(1): 1-3.
- 6. Chebel, S., Ben Hamada, K., Boughammoura, A., Frith Ayed, M., Ben Farhat, M.H. Anomalies cardiaques au cours de la dystrophie myotonique de Steinert. Reu Neurol. 2005; 161(10): 929- 939.
- 7. Di Cori, A., Bongiorni, M.G., Zucchelli, G., Soldati, E., Falorni, M., et al. Early left ventricular structural myocardial alterations and their relationship with functional and electrical properties of the heart in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Journal of the American Society of Echocardiography. 2009; 22(10): 1173-117
- 8. English, K.M. & Gibbs, J.L. Cardiac monitoring and treatment for children and adolescents with neuromuscular disorders. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2006; 48(5): 231-235.
- Feingold B, Mahle W, Auerbach S et al Management of Cardiac Involvement Associated With Neuromuscular Diseases A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association Circulation. 2017;136:00–00.
- Finsterer, J., Stöllberger, C., Wegmann, R., Janssen, L.A. Acquired left ventricular hypertrabeculation/noncompaction in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Int J Cardiol. 2009; 137(3): 310-313.
- 11. Finsterer, J., Gharehbaghi-Schnell, E., Stöllberger, C., Fheodoroff, K., Seiser, A. Relation of cardiac abnormalities and CTG-repeat size in myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 2001; 59(5): 350-355.
- 12. Forsberg, H., Olofsson, B.O., Eriksson, A., Andersson, S. Cardiac involvement in congenital myotonic dystrophy. British Heart Journal. 1990; 63(2): 119-121.
- 13. Hawley, R.J., Milner, M.R., Gottdiener, J.S., Cohen, A. Myotonic heart disease: a clinical follow up. Neurology. 1991; 41(2, Pt.1): 259-262.

- 14. Hermans, M.C., Faber, C.G., de Die-Smulders, C.E., Gerrits, M.M., Merkies, I.S. et al. Structural and functional cardiac changes in myotonic dystrophy type 1: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. J Cardiovas Magn Res. 2010; 14: 48.
- 15. Igarashi, H. Momoi, M.V., Yamagata, T., Shiraishi, H., Eguchi, I. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1998; 18(4): 366-369.
- 16. Kapoor, V. & Wright, I.M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy with cardiac conduction defect and eventration of the diaphragm. Pediatr Int. 2010; 52(1): e6-8.
- Kim, H.N., Cho, Y.N., Cho, J.H., Yang, E.M., Song, E.S., Choi, Y.Y. Transient complete atrioventricular block in a preterm neonate with congenital myotonic dystrophy. J Korean Med Sci. 2014; 29(6): 879-883.
- 18. Lau, J.K., Sy, R.W., Corbett, A., Kritharides, L. Myotonic dystrophy and the heart: A systematic review of evaluation and management. Int J Cardio. 2015; 184: 600-608.
- Lee, S.Y., Ng, D.K., Kwok, K.L., Cherk, S.W., Ho, C.S., Yuen, K.N. Congenital myotonic dystrophy complicated by ventricular tachycardia- early onset in infancy. Journal of Paediatrics & Child Health. 2004; 40(7): 414.
- 20. Merlevede, K., Vermander, D., Theys, P., Legius, E., Ector, H. Robberecht, W. Cardiac involvement and CTG expansion in myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Neurology. 2002; 249(6): 693-698.
- 21. Pelargonio, G., Dello Russo, A., Sanna, T., De Martino, G., Bellocci, F. Myotonic dystrophy and the heart. Heart. 2002; 88(6): 665-670.
- 22. Petri, H., Vissing, J., Witting, N., Bundgarrd, H., Køber, L. Cardiac manifestations of myotonic dystrophy type 1. International Journal of Cardiology. 2012; 160(2): 82-88.
- Phillips, M.F. & Harper, P.S. Cardiac disease in myotonic dystrophy. Cardiovas Res. 1997; 33(1): 13-22.
- Rais-Bahrami, K., MacDonald, M.G., Eng, G.D., Rosenbaum, K.N. Persistent pulmonary hypertension in newborn infants with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Pediatrics. 1994; 124(4): 634-635.
- Rakočević-Stojanović, V., Savić, D., Pavlović, S., Lavrnić, D., Romac, S., Apostolski, S. Correlation between cardiac involvement and CTG repeat amplification in myotonic dystrophy type 1. Acta Myologica. 2003; 22(1): 26-27.
- Sabovic, M., Medica, I., Logar, N., Mandic, E., Zidar, J., Peterlin, B. Relation of CTG expansion and clinical variables to electrocardiogram conduction abnormalities and sudden death in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Neuromusc Dis. 2003; 13(10): 822-6.
- 27. Streib, E.W., Meyers, D.G., Sun, S.F., Mitral valve prolapse in myotonic dystrophy. Muscle Nerve. 1985; 8(8): 650-653
- 28. Suda, K., Matsuura, M., Hayashi, Y. Myotonic dystrophy presenting as atrial flutter in childhood. Cardiol Young. 2004; 14(1): 88-92.
- 29. Joseph, J.T., Richards, C.S., Anthony, D.C., Upton, M., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Greenstein, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism. Neurology. 1997; 49(5): 1457-1460.
- Teber, S., Sezer T., Aypar, E., Kendirli, T., Atalay, S., Deda, G., Congenital myotonic dystrophy associate with Moebius syndrome and double-outlet right ventricle. Pediatr Int. 2010; 52(3): 501-502.

## **Skeletal muscle and orthopedic**

- 1. Joseph, JT. Congential myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism.
- Sahgal, V., Bernes, S., Sahgal, S., Lischwey, C., Subramani, V. Skeletal muscle in preterm infants with congential myotonic dystrophy. Morphologic and histochemical study. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 1983; 59(1): 47-55.
- Aldehag, A., Jonsson, H., Lindblad, J., Kotorp, A., Ansved, T., Kiekegaard, M. Effects of handtraining in persons with myotonic dystrophy type 1- A randomized controlled cross-over pilot study. Disabil Rehabil. 2013; 35(21): 1798-807.
- Anegawa, T., Namamura, M., Hara, K., Yamamoto, K. True muscle hypertrophy of the unilateral calf in congenital myotonic dystrophy- a case report. Rinsho Shinkeigaku- Clinical Neurology. 1993; 33(10): 1100-1102.
- 5. Bachman, G., Damian, M.S., Kock, M. Schilling, G., Fach, B., Stöppler, S. The clinical and genetic correlates of MRI findings in myotonic dystrophy. Neuroradiology. 1996; 38(7); 629- 635.
- Tachi, N., Kozuka, N., Ohya, K., Chiba, S., Kikuchi, K. CTG Repeat size and histologic findings of skeletal muscle from patients with congenital myotonic dystrophy. J Child Neurol. 1996; 11(6): 430-432.
- 7. Muller-Felber, W., Schmidt-Achert, M., Pongratz, D.E. Skeletal muscle in children with congenital myotonic dystrophy for the first year of life. Clinical Neuropathology. 1993; 12(4): 211-214.
- 8. Odajima, N., Matsunaga, T., Furukawa, T., Tsukagoshi, H. Distribution of skeletal muscle involvement in myotonic dystrophy- a computed tomographic study,. Clinical Neurology. 1990; 30(7): 707-712.
- 9. Timchenko, L. Reversal of fortune. Nature Genetics. 2006; 38(9): 976-977.
- Zatz, M., Passos-Bueno, M.R., Cerqueira, A., Marie, S.K., Vainzof, M., Pavanello, R. Analysis of the CTG repeat in skeletal muscle of young and adult myotonic dystrophy patients: when does the expansion occue? Hum Molec Genet. 1995; 4(3): 401-406.
- Berard, C., Payan, C., Hodgkinson, I., Fermanian, J. MFM Collaborative Study Group, et al. A motor function measure for neuromuscular diseases. Construction and validation study. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2005; 15(7): 463:470.
- 12. Biricocchi, C., Drake, J., Svien, L. Balance outcomes following a tap dance program for a child with congenital myotonic muscular dystrophy. Pediatric Physical Therapy. 2014; 26(3): 360-365.
- 13. Franc, D.T., Muetzel, R.L., Robinson, P.R., Craig, P., Dalton, J.C. et al. Cerebral and muscle MRI abnormalities in myotonic dystrophies. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2012; 22(6): 483-491.
- 14. Fugier, C., Klein, A.F., Hammer, C., Vassilopoulos, S., Ivarsson, Y. et al. Misregulated alternative splicing of BIN1 is associated with T tubule alterations and muscle weakness in myotonic dystrophy. Nature Medicine. 2011; 17(6): 720-725.
- Furling, D., Lam le, T., Agbulut, O., Butler-Browne, G.S., Morris, G.E. Changes in myotonic dystrophy protein kinase levels and muscle development in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Am J of Pathol. 2003; 162(3): 1001-1009.
- 16. Ho, A. & Campbell, C. Motor outcome measures in congenital and childhood DM1. Medizinische Genetik. 2009; 21(3): 443.P4-05.

- 17. Iannaccone, S.T., Bove, K.E., Volger, C., Azzarelli, B., Muller, J. et al. Muscle maturation delay in infantile myotonic dystrophy. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine. 1986; 110(5): 405-411.
- 18. Jacob, P. & Sarnat, H. Influences of the Brain on Normal and Abnormal Muscle Development (A. Hill & J.J. Volpe Eds.). Fetal Neurology. 1989. (pp.269-292). New York, NY: Raven Press.
- 19. Johnson, E.R., Abresch, R.T., Carter, G.T., Kilmer, D.D., Fowler, W.M., Sigford, B.J., Wanlass, R.L. Profiles of Neuromuscular Diseases. Am J of Phys Med Rehabil. 1995; 74(5): S104-116.
- 20. Jung, S.H. & Bang, M.S. Belated diagnosis of congenital myotonic dystrophy in a boy with cerebral palsy. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2007; 86(2): 161-165.
- 21. Mathieu, J., Boivin, H., Richards, C.L. Quantitative Motor Assessment in Myotonic Dystrophy. Can J Neurol. 2003; 30: 129-136.
- 22. Marie-Louise Stridh, Anne-Berit Ekström & Anna-Karin Kroksmark (2016): Postural control in the congenital and childhood forms of myotonic dystrophy type 1, European Journal of Physiotherapy, DOI: 10.1080/21679169.2016.1229028.
- 23. Silver, M.M. Vilos, G.A., Silv Turner, K.L. Morphologic and morphometic analyses of muscle in the neonatal myotonic dystoprhy syndrome. Human Pathology. 1984; 15(12): 1171-1182.
- 24. Ueda, H., Shimokawa, M., Yamamoto, M., Kameda, N., Mizusawa, H. et al. Decreased expansion of myotonic dystrophy protein kinase and disorganization of sarcoplasmic reticulum in skeletal muscle of myotonic dystrophy. Journal of the Neurological Sciences. 1999; 162(1): 38-50.
- 25. Volpe, J.J. Neuromuscular disorders: muscle involvement and restricted disorders. In: Neurology of the Newborn. 4th ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders Company; 2001; 634-671.
- 26. Zellweger, H. The floppy infant: a practical approach. Helvetica Paediatric Acta. 1983; 38(4): 301-306.
- 27. Day, J. & Ranum, L. Review RNA pathogenesis of the myotonic dystrophies. Neuromuscular Disorders. 15:5-16. Neurology. 2005; 15: 5-16.
- 28. Joseph, J.T., Richards, C.S., Anthony, D.C., Upton, M., Perez-Atayde, A.R., Greenstein, P. Congenital myotonic dystrophy pathology and somatic mosaicism. Neurology. 1997; 49(5): 1457-1460.

### Orthopedic

- 1. Canavese, F. & Sussman, M.D. Orthopaedic manifestations of congenital myotonic dystrophy during childhood and adolescence. Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics. 2009; 29(2): 208-213.
- 2. Kruse, B. & Gal, A. Talipes equinovarus as leading symptom of congenital myotonic dystrophy type 2. Muscle & Nerve. 2011; 43(5): 768.
- 3. Schilling, L., Forst, R., Forst, J., Fujak, A. Orthapaedic Disorders in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1: descriptive clinical study of 21 patients. 2013; 14: 338.
- 4. Siegel, I.M., Eisenberg, B.R., Glantz, R.H. Contributory etiologic factor for talipes equinovarus in congenital myotonic dystrophy: comparative biopsy study of intrinsic foot musculature and vastus lateralis in two cases. Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics. 1984; 4(3): 327-330.
- 5. Canavese, F. & Sussman, M.D. Orthopaedic manifestations of congenital myotonic dystrophy during childhood and adolescence. Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics. 2009; 29(2): 208-213.
- 6. Woodward, J.B., Heaton, R.K., Simon, D.B., Ringel, S.P. Neuropsychological findings in myotonic dystrophy. J Clin Neuropsychol. 1982: 4(4): 335-342.

## Skeletal muscle myotonia

- 1. Amack, J.D. & Mahadevan, M.S. Myogenic defects in myotonic dystrophy. Developmental Biology. 2004; 265(2): 294-301.
- 2. Argov, Z., Gardner-Medwin, D., Johnson, M.A., Mastaglia, F.L. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: fiber type abnormalities in two cases. Archives of Neurology. 1980; 37(11): 693-696.
- 3. Ashizawa, T., Anvret, M., Baiget, M. et al. Characteristics of intergenerational contractions of the CTG repeat in myotonic dystrophy. American Journal of Human Genetics. 1994; 54(3): 414-423.
- 4. Bachman, G., Damian, M.S., Kock, M. Schilling, G., Fach, B., Stöppler, S. The clinical and genetic correlates of MRI findings in myotonic dystrophy. Neuroradiology. 1996; 38(7); 629- 635.
- Poulton, J. Harley, H.G., Dasmahapatra, J., Brown, G.K., Potter, C.G., Sykes, B. Mitochondrial DNA does not appeat to influence the cognenital onset type of myotonic dystrophy. Medical Genetics. 1995; 32(9): 732-725.
- Birnberger, K.L, Rüdel, R., Struppler, A. Clinical and electrophysiological observations in patients with myotonic muscle disease and the therapeutic effect of N-propyl-ajmalin. Journal of Neurology. 1975; 210(2): 99-110.
- 7. Ho, A. & Campbell, C. Motor outcome measures in congenital and childhood DM1. Medizinische Genetik. 2009; 21(3): 443.P4-05.
- Koty, P.P., Pegoraro, E., Hobson, G., Marks, H.G., Turel, A. et al. Myotonia and the muscle chloride channel: dominant mutations show variable penetrance and founder effect. Neurology. 1996; 47(4): n963-968.
- 9. Kuhn, E. Myotonia congenital and recessive generalized myotonia. Der Nervenarzt. 1993; 64(12): 766-769.
- van Englen, B., Eymard, B., Wilcox, D. 123rd ENMC International Workshop: Management and therapy in Myotonic Dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2005; 15: 389-394. Naarden, The Netherlands.
- Sewry, C.A., Quinlivan, R.C., Squier, W., Morris, G.E., Holt, I. A rapid immunohistochemical test to distinguish congenital myotonic dystrophy from X-linked myotubular myopathy. Neuromuscul Disord. 2012; 22(3): 225-230.
- Seznec, H., Agbuwt, O., Sergeant, N., Savouret, C., Ghestem, A., Tabti, N. et al. Mice transgenic for the human myotonic dystrophy region wit hexpanded CTG repeats display muscular and brain abnormalities. Hum Mol Genet. 2001; 10(23):2717-2126.
- 13. Thornton, C.A., Johnson, K., Moxley, R.T. Myotonic dystrophy patients have larger CTG expansions in skeletal muscles than in leukocytes. Annals of Neurology. 1994; 35(1):104-107.
- Timchenko, N.A., Patel, R., Iakova, P., Cai, A.J., Quan, L., Timchenko, L.T. Overexpression of CUG triplet repeat-binding protein, CUGBP1, in mice inhibits myogenesis. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2004; 279(12): 13129-13139.

# **Ocular and hearing management**

### Ocular

- 1. Aring, E., Ekstrom, A.B., Tulinius, M., Sjostrom, A. Ocular motor function in relation to gross motor function in congenital and childhood myotonic dystrophy type 1. Acta Opthalmol. 2012; 90(4): 369-374.
- 2. Ekstrom, A.B., Tulinius, M., Sjostrom, A., Aring, E. Visual function in congenital and childhood myotonic dystrophy type 1. Ophthalmology. 2010; 117(5): 976-82.
- 3. Fleischer, B. Über myotonische dystrophie mit katarakt. Albrecht von Graifes Archiv fur Ophthalmologie. 1918; 96(1-2): 91-113.
- 4. Saito, Y., Sato, K., Kawai, M. Cataract as an only clinical manifestation of myotonic dystrophy- a new example of somatic instability of CTG repeats expansion in myotonin protein kinase gene. Clinical Neurology. 1997; 37(8): 714-716.
- 5. Segal, B.S. The retinopathy of dystrophia myotonia Steinert. Metabolic, Pediatric, & Systemic Opthamology. 1986; 9(1): 585-587.

#### Hearing

 Spaans, F., Faber, C.G., Smeets, H.J., Hofman, P.A., Braida, C., Monckton, D.G., de Die-Smulders, C.E. Encephalopathic attacks in a family co-segregating myotonic dystrophy type 1, an intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy and early hearing loss. J Neurol, Neurosurg, Psychiatry. 2009; 80(9): 1029-1035.

## **Gastrointestinal management**

- 1. Bodensteiner, J.B., & Grunow, J.E. Gastropharesis in neonatal myotonic dystrophy. Muscle & Nerve. 1984; 7(6): 486-487.
- 2. Casada, J.M, Isnard, R.M., Ojangurren, I. et al. Intestinal myopathy in Steinert's disease. Cir Pediatr. 2003; 16(3): 149-151.
- Hamel-Roy, J., Devroede, G., Arhan, P., Tetreault, J.P., Lemieux, B., Scott, H. Functional abnormalities of the anal sphincter in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Gastroenterology. 1984; 86; 1464-1474.
- 4. Kaida, K., Kono, S., Komiya, T., Kawai, M. Imaging and pathological studies of the esophageal dysfunction in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Neurology. 1996; 36(2): 300-305.
- 5. Kerr, T.P., Robb, S.A., Clayden, G.S. Lower gastrointestinal tract disturbance in congenital myotonic dystrophy. European Journal of Pediatrics. 2002; 161(8): 468-469.
- 6. Mabille, J.P., Giroud, M., Athias, P. Esophageal involvement in a case of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Radiology. 1982; 12(2): 89-91.
- Mårtensson, Å., Ekström, A. -B., Engvall, M., and Sjögreen, L. (2016) Oral hygiene aspects in a study of children and young adults with the congenital and childhood forms of myotonic dystrophy type 1. Clinical and Experimental Dental Research, 2: 179–184. doi: 10.1002/cre2.36.
- Matsui K., Yamashita, S., Shibasaki, J., Watanabe, T. Bethanechol for neonatal transient gastrointestinal dismotility in two cases of congenital myotonic dystrophy. No To Hattatsu. 2007; 39(4): 304-308.
- 9. Sumi, M., Kusumoto, T., Tagawa, M., Kondoh, T. et al. Two infantile cases of congenital myotonic dystrophy with cholelithiasis/cholestasis. Pediatrics International. 2005; 47(5): 586-588.

- 10. Tanaka, K., Takeshita, K., Takita, M. Abnormalities of bile acids in serum and bile from patients with myotonic muscular dystrophy. Clinical Science. 1982; 62(6): 627-642.
- Suarez. L., Belanger-Quintana, A., Escobar, H., de Blas, G., Benitez, J. et al. Sus(ected sexual abuse: an unusal presentation of congenital myotonic dystrophy. European Journal of Pediatrics. 2000; 159(7): 539-541.

#### **Neurodevelopmental management**

- 1. Azevedo, H.C., Mendonca, L.I., Salum, P.N., Carvalho, M.S., Nagahashi-Marie, S.K. et al. Congenital myotonia. Report of 7 patients. Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria. 1996; 54(4): 595-600.
- 2. Cuthill, J., Gattereau, A., Viguie, F. Myotonic dystrophy of Steinert: are anxiety and depression necessarily concomitants? Can J Psychiatr. 1998; 3: 203-206.
- 3. Ekstrom, A.B., Hakenas-Plate, L., Tulinius, M., Wentz, E. Cognition and adaptive skills in myotonic dystrophy type 1: a study of 55 individuals with congential and childhood forms. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology. 2009; 51(12): 982-990.
- 4. Ekstrom, A.B., Hakenas-Plate, L., Samuelsson, L., Tulinius, M., Wentz, E. Autism spectrum conditions in myotonic dystrophy type 1: a study on 57 individuals with congenital and childhood forms. American Journal of Medical Genetics. 2008; 147B(6): 918-926.
- 5. Blondis, T.A., Cook, E., Koza-Taylor, P., Finn, T. Asperger syndrome associated with Steinert's myotonic dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1996; 38(840-847.
- Calderon, R. Myotonic dystrophy: a reglected cause of mental retardation. J Pediatr. 1966; 68(3): 423-431 D'Angelo, M.G. & Bresolin, N. Cognitive impairment in neuromuscular disorders. Muscle & Nerve. 2006; 34(1): 16-33.
- 7. D'Angelo, M.G. & Bresolin, N. Report of the 95th European Neuromuscular Centre sponsored international workshop cognitive impairment in neuromuscular disorder. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2001; 131: 72-79. Naarden, The Netherlands.
- 8. Delaporte, C. Personality patterns in patients with myotonic dystrophy. Archives of Neurology. 1998; 55(5): 635-640.
- 9. Douniol M, Jacquette A, Cohen D, Bodeau N, Rachidi L, Angeard N, et al. Psychiatric and cognitive phenotype of childhood myotonic dystrophy type 1. Dev Med Child Neurol 2012; 54 (10): 905-11.
- 10. Endo, A., Motonaga, K., Arahata, K., Harada, K., Yamada, T. et al. Developmental expression of myotonic dystrophy protein kinase in brain and its relevance to clinical phenotype. Acta Neuropathologica. 2000; 100(5): 513-520.
- 11. Finsterer, J. & Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Myotonic dystrophies: clinical presentation, pathogenesis, diagnosis and therapy. Forschr Neurol Psychiatr. 2015; 83(1): 9-17.
- Gagnon, C., Chouinard, M.C., Laberge, L., Veillette, S., Begin, P., Breton, R. et al. Towards an integrative approach to the management of myotonic dystrophy type 1. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007; 78(8): 800-806.
- Goossens, E., Steyaert, J., De Die-Smulders, C., Willekens, D., Fryns, J.P. Emotional and Behaivoural Profile and Child Psychiatric Diagnosis in the Childhood Type of Myotonic Dystrophy. Genetic Counselling. 2000; 11(4): 317-327.
- 14. Huber, S.J., Kissel, J.T., Shuttleworth, E.C., Chakeres, D.W., Clapp, L.E., Brogan, M.A. Magnetic resonance imaging and clinical correlates of intellectual impairment in myotonic dystrophy. Arch Neurol. 1989; 46 (5): 536-540.

- Johnson, N.E., Ekstrom, A., Campbell, C., Hung, M., Adams, H.R. et al. Parent- reported multi-national study of the impact of congenital and childhood onset myotonic dystrophy. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology. 2016; 58(7): 698-705.
- Le Ber, I., Martinez, M., Campion, D., Laquerriere, A. et al. A non-DM1, non-DM2 multisystem disorder with frontotemporal dementia: phenotype and suggestive mapping of the DM3 locus to chromosome 15q21-24. Brain. 2004; 127(9):1979-1992.
- 17. Modoni, A., Silvestri, G., Pomponi, M.G., Mangiola, F., Tonali, P.A., Marra, C. Characterization of the pattern of cognitive impairment in myotonic dystrophy type 1. 2004; 61(12): 1943-1947.
- 18. Nicholson, A., Rivlin, E., Sims, D.G., Chiswick, M.L., D'Souza, S.W. Developmental delay in congenital myotonic dystrophy after neonatal intensive care. Early Human Development. 1990; 22(2): 99-103.
- Perini, G.I., Menegazzo, E., Ermani, M., Zara, M., Gemma, A., Ferruzza, E. Gennarelli, M., Angelini, C. Cognitive impairment and (CTG)n expansion in myotonic dystrophy patients. Biol Psychiatry. 1999; 46(3): 425-431.
- 20. Rubinsztein, J.S., Rubinsztein, D.C., Goodburn, S., Holland, A.J. Apathy and hypersomnia are common features of myotonic dystrophy. J Neurol, Neurosurg, & Psychiatry. 1998; 64(4): 510-516.
- Serra, L., Cerignani, M., Bruschini, M., Cipolotti, L., Mancini, M. et al. I Know that You Know I Know: Neural Substrates Associated with Social Cognition Deficits in DM1 Patients. Plos ONE. 2016; 11(6): e0156901.
- 22. Shevell, M.I., Majnemer, A., Rosenbaum, P., Abrahamowicz, M. Etiologic yield of subspecialists' evolution of young children with global developmental delay. Journal of Pediatrics. 2000; 136(5): 593-598.
- Spranger, M., Spranger, S., Tischendorf, M., Meinck, H., Cremer, M. Myotonic Dystrophy The Role of Large Triplet Repeat Length in the Development of Mental Retardation. Archives of Neurology. 1997; 54: 251-254.
- 24. Steyaert, J., de Die-Smulders, C., Fryns, J.P., Goossens, E., Willekens, D. Behaviour phenotype in childhood type of dystrophia myotonica. Am J Med Genet. 2000; 96(6): 888-889
- Steyaert, J., Umans, S., Willekens, D., Leguis, E., et al. A study of the cognitive and psychological profile in 16 children with congenital of juvenile myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Genetics. 1997; 52: 135-141
- 26. Tanabe, Y., Iai, M., Tamai, K., Fujimoto, N., Sugita, K. Neuroradiological findings in children with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Acta Paediatrica. 1992; 81(8): 613-617.
- 27. Tuikka, R.A., Laaksonen, R.K., Somer, H.V. Cognitive function in myotonic dystrophy: a follow-up study. European Neurology. 1993; 33(6): 436-441.
- 28. Turnpenny, P., Clark, C., Kelly, K. Intelligence quotient profile in myotonic dystrophy, intergenerational deficit, and correlation with CTG amplification. J Med Genet. 1994; 31(4): 300-305.
- 29. Woodward, J.B., Heaton, R.K., Simon, D.B., Ringel, S.P. Neuropsychological findings in myotonic dystrophy. J Clin Neuropsychol. 1982: 4(4): 335-342.
- Wozniak, J.R., Mueller, B.A., Ward, E.E., Lim, K.O., Day, J.. White matter abnormalities and neurocognitive correlates in children and adolescents with myotonic dystrophy type 1: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Neuromuscular disorders. 2011; 21(2): 89-96.
- 31. Yoshimura, I., Sasaki, A., Akimoto, H., Yoshimura, N. A case of congenital myotonic dystrophy with infantile autism. Brain & Development. 1989; 21(4): 379-384.

## **CNS structural**

- Antonini, G., Mainero, C., Romano, A., Guibilei, F., Ceschin, V., Gragnani, F. et al. Cerebral atrophy in myotonic dystrophy: a voxel based morphometric study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004; 75(11): 1611-1613.
- 2. Ashizawa, T. Myotonic dystrophy as a brain disorder. Arch Neurol. 1998; 55: 291-293.
- 3. Bachman, G., Damian, M.S., Kock, M. Schilling, G., Fach, B., Stöppler, S. The clinical and genetic correlates of MRI findings in myotonic dystrophy. Neuroradiology. 1996; 38(7); 629- 635.
- 4. Hageman, A.T., Gabreels, F.J., Liem, K.D., Renkawek, K., Boon, J.M. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: a report on thirteen cases and review of literature. J Neuro Sci. 1993; 115(1): 95-101.
- 5. Bosemani, T., Jasien, J., Johnston, M.V., Huisman, T.A., Poretti, A., Northington F.J. Neonatal neuroimaging findings in congential myotonic dystrophy. J Perinatol. 2014; 34(2): 159-60.
- 6. Caglar, M.K. & Geven, W.B. Imaging case of the month. Cerebral ventricular dilation and diaphragmatic evelation in congentical myotonic dystrophy. Am J of Perinat. 1990; 7(2) 198-199.
- Censori, B., Provinciali, L., Danni, M., Chiaramoni, L., Maricotti, M., Foschi, N. et al. Brain involvement in myotonic dystrophy: MRI features and their relationship to clinical and cognitive conditions. Acta Neurol Scand. 1994; 90(3): 211-217.
- Di Costanzo, A., de Cristofaro, M., Di Lorio, G., Daniele, A., Bonavita, S. et al. Paternally inherited case of congenital DM1: brain MRI and review of literature. Brain & Development. 2009; 31(1): 79-82.
- Di Costanzo, A., Di Salle, F., Santoro, L., Bonavita, V., Tedeschi, G. et al. Brain MRI features of congenital- and adult- form myotonic dystrophy type 1: case-control study. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2002; 12(5): 476-483.
- 10. Garcia-Alix, A., Cabanas, F., Morales, C., Pellicer, A., Echevarria, J., Paisan, L., Quero, J. Cerebral abnormalities in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1991; 7(1): 28-32.
- Gomez Manchon, M., Beceiro Mosquera, J., Olivas Lopez de Soria, C., Ripalda, M.J., Garcia de Frias, E. Congenital myotonic dystrophy and hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Anales de Pediatria. 2005; 62(1): 78-79.
- 12. Haranaka, M., Endo, A., Kohira, R., Fujita, Y. et al. Brain lesion in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 2000; 32(2): 268-273.
- Hashimoto, T., Tayama, M., Miyazaki, M., Murakawa, K. et al. Neuroimaging study of myotonic dystrophy. I. Magnetic resonance imaging of the brain. Brain & Development. 1995; 17(1): 24-27.
- Hashimoto, T., Tayama, M., Yoshimoto, T., Miyazaki, M. et al. Proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy of brain in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Pediatric Neurology. 1995; 12(4): 335-340.
- 15. Hashimoto, T., Tayama, M., Yoshimoto, T., Miyazaki, M. et al. Proton MR spectroscopy of the brain in patients with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 1995; 27(3): 177-183.
- Huber, S.J., Kissel, J.T., Shuttleworth, E.C., Chakeres, D.W., Clapp, L.E., Brogan, M.A. Magnetic resonance imaging and clinical correlates of intellectual impairment in myotonic dystrophy. Arch Neurol. 1989; 46 (5): 536-540.
- 17. Jacob, P. & Sarnat, H. Influences of the Brain on Normal and Abnormal Muscle Development (A. Hill & J.J. Volpe Eds.). Fetal Neurology. 1989. (pp.269-292). New York, NY: Raven Press.

- 18. Klin, B., Efrati, Y., Vinograd, I. Case report: selective occipital lobe hydrocephalus and agenesis of the left lobe of the liver in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Clinical Radiology. 1992; 46(4): 284-285.
- 19. Koob, M.D., Moseley, M.L., Schut, L.J. et al. An untranslated CTG expansion causes a novel form of spinocerebellar ataxia (SCA8). Nature Genetics. 1999; 21(4): 379-384.
- Kornblum, C., Reul, J., Kress, W., Grothe, C., Amanatidis, N., Klockgether, T, Schröder, R. Cranial magnetic resonance imaging in genetically proven myotonic dystrophy type I and II. J Neurol. 2004; 251(6): 710-714
- Kuo, H.C., Hsiao, K.M., Chen, C.J., Hsieh, Y.C., Huang, C.C. Brain magnetic resonance image changes in a family with congenital and classic myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 2005; 27(4): 291-296.
- 22. Martinello, F., Piazza, A., Pastorello, E., Angelini, C., Trevisan, C.P. Clinical and neuroimaging study of the central nervous system in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry. 1999; 246(3): 186-192.
- 23. Meola, G. & Sansone, V. Cerebral involvements in myotonic dystrophies. Muscle & Nerve. 2007; 36(3): 294-306.
- Minneroo, M., Weber, B., Schoene-Bake, J.C., Roeske, S., Mirbach, S., Anspach, C. et al. The brain in myotonic dystrophy 1 and 2: evidence for a predominant white matter disease. Brain. 2011; 134(Pt. 12): 3530-3546.
- 25. Miyazaki, M. & Hashimoto, T. Deep white matter hyperintensity in occipital lobe on T2 weighted magnetic resonance imaging. Brain & Development. 1991; 23(5): 469:474.
- Mutchnick, I.S., Thatikunta, M.A., Grump, W.C., Stewart, D.L., Moriary, T.M. et al. Congenital myotonic dystrophy: ventriculomegaly and shunt considerations for the pediatric neurosurgeon. Child's Nervous System. 2016; 32(4): 609-616.
- 27. Fox, G.N. & Gravett, M.G. Neonatal myotonic dystrophy associated with prenatal ventriculomegaly. A case report. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 1986; 31(8): 729-731.
- Joh, J.H., Kim, J.Y., Baek, S., Song, J., Lee, Y.M., Kim, J.U. Total intravenous anesthesia in a 10-month-old patient with congenital myotonic dystrophy undergoing endoscopic third ventriculostomy: A case report. Kor J Anesthesiol. 2012; 63(3): 169-172.
- 29. Pandya, H., Lakhani, J., Mehta, J., Dodhania, J. Rare case of dystrophia myotonica with mega cisterna magna. The Australian Medical Journal. 2012; 5(4): 213-216.
- 30. Regev, R., de Vires, L.S., Heckmat, J.Z., Dubowitz, V. Central ventricular dilation in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Journal of Pediatrics. 1987; 111(3): 372-376.
- 31. Rettwitz-Volk, W., Wikstroem, M., Flodmark, O. Occlusive hydrocephalus in congenital myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 2001; 23(2): 122-124.
- Shimozawa, N., Inagaki, M., Mito, T., Ando, Y., Takashima, S., Takeshita, K., Becker, L.E. Central nervous system complications of congenital myotonic dystrophy. Brain & Development. 1986; 18(4): 280-285.
- Spaans, F., Faber, C.G., Smeets, H.J., Hofman, P.A., Braida, C., Monckton, D.G., de Die-Smulders, C.E. Encephalopathic attacks in a family co-segregating myotonic dystrophy type 1, an intermediate Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy and early hearing loss. J Neurol, Neurosurg, Psychiatry. 2009; 80(9): 1029-1035.

- 34. Tanabe, Y., Iai, M., Tamai, K., Fujimoto, N., Sugita, K. Neuroradiological findings in children with congenital myotonic dystrophy. Acta Paediatrica. 1992; 81(8): 613-617.
- 35. Seznec, H., Agbuwt, O., Sergeant, N., Savouret, C., Ghestem, A., Tabti, N. et al. Mice transgenic for the human myotonic dystrophy region wit hexpanded CTG repeats display muscular and brain abnormalities. Hum Mol Genet. 2001; 10(23):2717-2126.
- 36. Woodward, J.B., Heaton, R.K., Simon, D.B., Ringel, S.P. Neuropsychological findings in myotonic dystrophy. J Clin Neuropsychol. 1982: 4(4): 335-342.
- 37. Wozniak, J.R., Mueller, B.A., Ward, E.E., Lim, K.O., Day, J.. White matter abnormalities and neurocognitive correlates in children and adolescents with myotonic dystrophy type 1: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Neuromuscular disorders. 2011; 21(2): 89-96.

### **Excessive daytime sleepiness**

 van Englen, B., Eymard, B., Wilcox, D. 123rd ENMC International Workshop: Management and therapy in Myotonic Dystrophy. Neuromuscular Disorders. 2005; 15: 389-394. Naarden, The Netherlands.

## **Endocrine and metabolic**

- 1. Annane, D., Fiorelli, M., Mazoyer, B., Pappata, S., Eymard, B., Radvanyi, H. et al. Impaired cerebral glucose metabolism in myotonic dystrophy: a tripled-size dependent phenomenon. Neuromusc Disord. 1998; 8(1); 39-45.
- 2. Duquenne, M., Ortega, F., Guerin, V., Brichet, B., Weryha, G., Kliein, M. et al. Maladie de Steinert et maladies endocriniennes. Ann Med Int. 1991; 142: 609-618.
- 3. Rioperez, E., Botella, J.M., Palacio, A., Abaitua, I., Treba, J.L., Riloy-Campo, J.R. Myotonic dystrophy associated with thyroid disease. J Neurol Sci. 1979: 43: 357-366.
- 4. Zagar, A.H., Bhat, M.H., Ganie, M.A., Laway, B.A., Masoodi, S.R., Salahuddin, M., Kour, S. Polyglandular endocrinopathy in myotonic dystrophy. Neurol India. 2002; 50(1): 105-106.

The mission of the Myotonic Dystrophy Foundation is to enhance the quality of life of people living with myotonic dystrophy and accelerate research focused on treatments and a cure.



663 Thirteenth Street, Suite 100, Oakland, California 94612 415.800.7777 | info@myotonic.org | www.myotonic.org